# APPLICATION OF COMPUTER MODELS IN IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT

Marković, Monika; Kranjac, David; Jančić-Tovjanin, M

#### Authored book / Autorska knjiga

Publication status / Verzija rada: Published version / Objavljena verzija rada (izdavačev PDF)

Publication year / Godina izdavanja: 2021

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:151:201412

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2024-06-29



Sveučilište Josipa Jurja Strossmayera u Osijeku **Fakultet** agrobiotehničkih

znanosti Osijek

Repository / Repozitorij:

Repository of the Faculty of Agrobiotechnical Sciences Osijek - Repository of the Faculty of Agrobiotechnical Sciences Osijek





# APPLICATION OF COMPUTER MODELS IN IRRIGATION MANAGEMENT

Monika Marković, David Kranjac, Milena Jančić-Tovjanin



#### Publisher

Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek Faculty of Agrobiotechnical Sciences Osijek

For the publisher

Monika Marković, PhD, associate professor

#### Authors

Monika Marković, PhD, associate professor David Kranjac, PhD, postdoctoral researcher Milena Jančić-Tovjanin, PhD, postdoctoral researcher

Technical editor Ras Lužaić, dipl. ing.

#### Reviewers

Jasna Šoštarić, PhD, full professor Magdalena Zrakić Sušac, PhD, assistant professor

Proofreader

Monika Petrinec, mag. philol. angl.

December, 2021

© All rights reserved. No parts of this book may be reprinted or transferred in any form without the approval of the authors.

ISBN 798-953-7871-99-4

#### Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek



The approval for publishing the university textbook was issued by the Senate of the Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek at the third session held on 20 December 2021 under the number 42/21.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Intr	odcution	4
	1.1.	Computer models	6
	1.2.	Wireless sensors	6
	1.3.	GIS (Geographic Information System)	7
	1.4.	Remote sensing in irrigation management	8
2.	Cro	pWat MODEL	9
	2.1.	About CropWat model	10
	2.2.	Step by step procedure	11
		2.2.1. Station and climate data	11
		2.2.2. Effective rainfall	14
		2.2.3. ETc calculation	16
		2.2.4. General soil data	18
	2.3.	Analysis of Crop Water Requirements (CWR)	20
	2.4.	Irrigation scheduling	22
3.	ETo	Calculator	25
	3.1	ETo calculator example	27
4.	Aqu	aCrop	34
	4.1.	AquaCrop model	35
	4.2.	AquaCrop application	37
		4.2.1 Climate file	38
		4.2.2 Crop file	39
		4.2.3 Management file	43
		4.2.4 Soil file	46
		4.2.5 Simulation	47
5.	Dat	abases in water management	50
	5.1.	AQUASTAT	51
	5.2.	AQUAMAPS	51
	5.3.	CLIMWAT	53
6.	Part	ial equilibrium models	55
	6.1.	Partial equilibrium models and their applications	56
		6.1.1 AGMEMOD (PE) model	58
		6.1.2 AGMEMOD (PE) model in the practical use of	
		simulating future soft wheat yield and production	
		volumes under the irrigation	70
7.	Refe	erences	77

# Introdcution

Several key factors such as population growth, climate change, rising food prices, declining natural resources call for more efficient management in crops as well as in water management. Good water management maximizes the water use efficiency and preserves water resources. The implementation of ICT (information and communication technology) in water management improves efficiency by introducing different tools, devices, software, remote sensors, and applications into the management. It enables engineers, scientists, farmers, and policymakers to increase productivity with improved planning and management of the production system. Furthermore, the implementation of ICT in water management has improved the data storage capacity, exchange of information, and ability to access data remotely. ICT can help to prevent and reduce water losses through well-planned irrigation schedules which is crucial to increased productivity. ICT is now being used in irrigation projects to improve water management in a variety of ways: planning, data collecting, storage, and sharing. Furthermore, it is used for weather forecasting, and to improve water efficiency with the introduction of hardware, software, models, and remote sensors. Such innovative water management is helping to

improve and expand intensive irrigation facilities.

Irrigation is the application of water to meet the crop water demand at the proper time in the proper way (Ali, 2010). Crop water demand in arid and humid regions are not the same, i.e. in arid regions irrigation water is the main source of water for crop production while in humid areas the crops are irrigated only during the period of drought. Nevertheless, irrigated agriculture is one of the major consumers of freshwater resources. Therefore, proper irrigation scheduling is required for better and more efficient irrigation systems. The purpose of irrigation scheduling is to calculate net irrigation, irrigation rate, crop water demands (CWD), and irrigation time. Different methods could be used for the determination of irrigation scheduling, i.e. calculation method, observation method, estimation method, and measuring of soil moisture content. Each of these methods has its advantages and limitations, which indicate the fact that irrigation scheduling is a demanding and time-consuming process. However, the introduction of computer models, instrumentations, and techniques for computerized irrigation has made it easier since it provides irrigation scheduling exactly according to the water needs of the crops.

### 1.1. Computer models

Some of the computer models that are used in irrigation scheduling as well as in crop production are APSIM, CROP-WAT, AQUACROP, and DSSAT. Dynamic simulation models of soil-plant systems are powerful tools which combined with automated weather station networks, soil, and plant measurement systems are increasing the efficiency of decision making. No matter which computer model is used for irrigation scheduling, a basic understanding of **soil - water - plant** interactions is obligatory for achieving efficient crop production. Also, it must be stated that the model to be as efficient as possible it is necessary to calibrate and validate the model for specific crops as well as for specific growing conditions.

### 1.2. Wireless sensors

One of the developing sectors in irrigation management is the implementation of wireless sensor networks (WSN). Sensors can provide real-time weather, soil, and crop data which considerably simplifies the decision-making in irrigation scheduling (Figure 1). In such a form, irrigation scheduling becomes smart irrigation technology. Due to the latest technological advances, sensors have become more efficient, reliable, and less expensive. Sensors are set up in a field, i.e. soil sensors, canopy sensors, or compact weather sensors to collect (usually periodically) and send data to the end-user in a short period of time, ending with efficient temporal and spatial data network. Of course, no matter what type of sensor is used, experts in soil, climate, or crop science are required so that the sensor's maximum efficiency would be achieved.

The introduction of sensors to irrigation management is one of the latest technological innovations for improving irrigation efficiency.



Figure 1. Wireless sensors in smart irrigation

## 1.3. GIS (Geographic Information System)

Some of the GIS functions that are related to crop production can successfully be used to monitor and improve water management in irrigated agriculture. Of course, the use of sensors for collecting temporal and spatial data that are mentioned in the previous section is obligatory. Some of the GIS software that can be used in irrigation management are ESRI, ArcPAD, ArcGIS, etc. One of the GIS features is Digital orthophoto quads (DOQs), digital maps that provide spatial illustrations of terrain, including elevation and property boundaries, which can help delineate irrigation canals and drainage systems. Laser scanning (LiDAR) is a technology for obtaining a highly detailed digital terrain model that can be used more broadly in water management. It works similar to radar but it uses the beaming light pulses instead of the radio waves for identification of areas with the slope and elevation, water flow and catchments maps as well as erosion control.

# 1.4. Remote sensing in irrigation management

A large scale of crop production justifies the implementation of remote sensing, i.e. satellite data. Precision irrigation mostly uses data that are part of hydrology and of course meteorology and collected data are used to improve water management in irrigated agriculture. Satellite imagery has wide-ranging applications in agriculture, for example, early identification of plant stress caused by pests and diseases, lack of water, or monitoring of weeds.



# 2.1. About CropWat model

CropWat 8.0 is a computer model designed by experts from the Land and water development division of the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO). CropWat model calculates **Crop water requirements (CWR)** and irrigation water requirements (IWR) from climate, soil, and crop data (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Climate, soil, and crop data used for calculation of irrigation scheduling and crop water requirements

The CropWat 8.0 model provides calculation of irrigation schedules for different irrigation management conditions as well for different crops. For example, if irrigation has a full or supplemental (regulated deficit) character. Full irrigation will provide the total amount of water needed for crops to avoid water deficit. Opposite to full irrigation, deficit irrigation aims to reduce water demands with optimization of economic output. CropWat model is available on the following link, where also installation guide

can be found: <u>http://www.</u> fao.org/land-water/databases-and-software/CropWat/en/. Procedures for calculation of the CWR and IWR are mainly based on methodologies presented in FAO Irrigation and Drainage Papers No. 24 "Crop water requirements". It would be the best if climate, soil, and crop data are collected in the field or at least in the local area. If not, CropWat 8.0 program includes standard crop and soil data that are integrated into the model.

# 2.2. Step by step procedure

A step-by-step procedure for the CWR calculation and irrigation scheduling is explained below. The chosen crop is maize (*Zea mays* L.) grown and irrigated in the Osijek region. Each step is briefly described as well as the main definitions that are related to the model.

# 2.2.1. Station and climate data

CropWat computer program allows calculation of the CWR and IWR for different agro-ecological zones with the assumption that at the very beginning of the analysis the exact geo-coordinates and altitude of the selected area are given. The accurate geolocation and climate data are needed to calculate the crop water requirements that are environment-dependent.

Crop yield is highly dependent on weather conditions during the growing season, these are rainfall, air temperature, and humidity, wind speed, etc. The primary source of water, that is available water for crop production for most of the world is rainfall. In crop production, rainfall is observed through three aspects, quantity, distribution, and intensity. The amount of water that crop uses for the evapotranspiration process can be observed as "lost" water that should be compensated with irrigation. The process of evapotranspiration depends on the amount of energy available for water evaporation, while the largest source of energy is solar radiation. Due to differences in the position of the Sun, the potential amount of solar radiation that can reach the surface from which water evaporates depends on the geographical position and the season. On the other hand, the actual amount of solar radiation reaching the surface from which water evaporates depends on the atmosphere, i.e. on the presence of clouds that absorb and reflect the main parts of the solar radiation. Also, when assessing the impact of solar radiation on evapotranspiration, it should be noted that all available energy is not only used to evaporate water but part of the solar energy is spent on warming the atmosphere and soil. Solar radiation that is absorbed into the atmosphere increases the air temperature which in turn affects the ETo process.

Solar radiation absorbed by the atmosphere and heat emitted by the Earth increases the air temperature. The heat of the surrounding air transfers energy and thus affects the rate of evapotranspiration. Thus, during sunny, warm days, the loss of water from the soil surface and plants by the process of evapotranspiration is higher compared to the evaporation of water from them during cold and cloudy weather. From this, it can be concluded that the higher the air temperature, the more water will evaporate into the atmosphere from the surface of the soil and plants. The consequence is a higher crop for water requirement, which in case of lack of rainfall must be compensated by irrigation.

Relative air humidity is the ratio of air vapor pressure to its saturation vapor pressure. It shows how much vapor is in the air according to the maximum amount of water vapor that the air could contain at the same temperature. As the air temperature changes, so does the relative humidity. If the amount of vapor in the air remains unchanged and the air temperature rises, the relative humidity decreases as warm air may contain a larger amount of water vapor compared to cold air. In arid areas, relative humidity is low and evapotranspiration is more intense, so crops in such conditions have a greater need for water. On the other hand, in rainy, tropical conditions, high relative humidity reduces the loss of water from the soil surface and plants by the process of evapotranspiration.

The process of removing vapor from the air largely depends on the wind and turbulence of the air above the surface from which the water evaporates. When water evaporates from plants and soil, the air above the surface from which the water evaporates becomes saturated with water vapor. If such air is not constantly replaced by dry air, the process of evapotranspiration weakens. In other words, continuous airflow contributes to increased evapotranspiration. Thus, the higher the wind speed in hot and dry conditions, the more water will be released into the atmosphere from the surface of plants and soil.

Two main weather-related variables that determine IWR are the amount and timing of rainfall, and evapotranspiration. CropWat gives the opportunity to choose, how different types of climatic data will be entered into the model. The air temperature can be provided as T<sub>min</sub> and  $T_{max}$ , or as an average air temperature (T<sub>avg</sub>). Air humidity can be given as air relative humidity (%) or as a vapour pressure (kPa). Daily sunshine data can be given as hours of sunshine, as a % of daylength, and as a fraction of daylength. Wind speed data can be given as km/ day or m/sec. It would be best to collect data from a weather station that is located on the field. If that is not the case, the weather data can be obtained

from the Croatian Meteorological and Hydrological Service. At the very beginning, it is necessary to enter the basic location data (Figure 3), such as Country and station data (altitude, longitude, and latitude), and afterward the climate data so that the ETo could be calculated. The combination of two separate processes whereby water is lost on the one hand from the soil surface by evaporation, and on the other hand from the crop by transpiration is referred to as evapotranspiration (ET).

Country Co	oatia				Station	Osijek		
Altitude 90 m.			stitude 45.0	0 "N 💌	Longitude 18.00 FE			
Month	Min Temp	Max Temp	Humidity	Wind	Sun	Rad	ETo	
	°C	°C	%	km/day	hours	MJ/m2/day	mm/da	
January	-14.4	14.0	92	2	0.9	3.7	0.28	
February	-7.6	17.0	83	2	1.7	5.8	0.50	
March	-3.8	20.5	76	2	3.8	10.4	1.12	
April	4.4	25.5	68	2	7.6	17.8	2.45	
May	3.8	31.3	69	2	8.8	21.6	3.54	
June	7.6	33.0	76	2	7.4	20.5	3.67	
July	11.2	36.6	64	2	11.8	25.9	4.72	
August	11.2	36.2	67	2	9.4	20.8	3.82	
September	8.5	33.1	66	2	7.9	15.8	2.63	
October	-1.0	29.6	79	2	4.3	8.8	1.34	
November	-2.4	20.4	85	2	3.0	5.5	0.63	
December	-17.5	21.3	88	2	1.3	3.5	0.42	
Average	0.0	26.5	76	2	57	13.3	2.09	

Figure 3. Station and climate data

Simply said, ET is the amount of water that is lost and should be compensated with irrigation water. In the CropWat model, the ETo calculation is based upon the Penman-Monteith equation (Allen et al., 1998) which is the established method for determining the ET of major herbaceous crops with sufficient precision for management purposes (Fereres and Soriano, 2007).

As presented in figure 3., climate data include monthly data for minimum and maximum air temperature (or average), air humidity (%), sunshine hours, and wind speed (km/day). Mentioned climate data are used for the calculation of **reference evapotranspiration** (ETo, mm/day).

ETo is the evapotranspiration rate from the reference surface (grass) that represents the evaporative demand of the atmosphere regardless of crop or agricultural practices. As can be seen from figure 2, the only factors affecting  $ET_o$  are climatic parameters.

#### 2.2.2. Effective rainfall

Before the calculation of Crop evapotranspiration under standard conditions (ETc) the effective rainfall is to be calculated. This is an important step since

part of the rainfall is not effective for the plant. Part of the rainfall percolates below the plant root zone (deep percolation) and other parts of the rainfall flow away over the soil surface (runoff). Deep percolation water and run-off water cannot be used by the plants. So, part of the rainfall is not effective but the remaining part is stored in the root zone and can be used by the plants and that is so-called effective rainfall. In general, the efficiency of rainfall will decrease with increasing rainfall.

For most rainfall events below 100 mm/month, the efficiency will be approximately 80%. The factors which influence which part is effective and which part is not effective include the climate, the soil texture, the soil structure, and the depth of the root zone, and these factors have been discussed in previous studies of Dastane (1978). There are different methodologies for the calculation of effective rainfall and a few of them are integrated into the Crop-Wat model (Figure 4), a fixed percentage (usually 80%), FAO/ AGWL formula, empirical formula, and USDA method. In our example, the effective rainfall is calculated with the use of the FAO/AGWL methodology.



Figure 4. Effective rainfall calculation methodologies

After the rainfall data are entered, the model calculates effective rainfall which in our example is 59.9% lower than total rainfall (Figure 5). This significant reduction of available water for the plants is important for the irrigation scheduling of CWR.

Station Osijek	Ef	f. rain method F
	Rain	Eff rain
	mm	mm
January	60.0	26.0
February	29.0	7.4
March	27.0	6.2
April	19.0	1.4
May	39.0	13.4
June	63.0	27.8
July	14.0	0.0
August	61.0	26.6
September	10.0	0.0
October	55.0	23.0
November	68.0	30.8
December	101.0	56.8
Total	546.0	219.4

Figure 5. Effective rainfall calculation

#### 2.2.3. ETc calculation

After the ETo and effective rainfall calculation is done, the model moves to the calculation of ETc. The crop evapotranspiration under standard conditions. denoted as ETc, is the evapotranspiration from disease-free, well-fertilized crops, grown in large fields, under optimum soil water conditions, and achieving full production under the given climatic conditions (Allen et al., 1998). Crop water requirements (ETc) over the growing season are determined from ETo and estimates of crop evaporation rates, expressed as crop coefficients (Kc), based on well-established procedures (FAO, 1977), according to the following equation:

#### ETc=Kc x ET

The crop coefficient varies thru the growth period because of changes in vegetation and ground cover. In the CropWat model, the trends in Kc during the growing period are represented in the crop coefficient curve. Single (time-averaged) crop coefficients, Kc, and mean maximum plant heights for nonstressed, well-managed crops in sub-humid climates for use with the FAO Penman-Monteith ETo are presented in FAO publication (FAO, 1998). Next, the following data must be entered to calculate the ETc (Figure 6):

 planting date (the harvest date is calculated by the model according to used crop data);



Figure 6. Crop data

• Kc values - Only three values for Kc (Figure 7) are required to describe and construct the crop coefficient curve: those during the initial stage (Kc ini), the mid-season stage (Kc mid), and at the end of the late-season stage (Kc end).



Figure 7. Single crop coefficient (Kc) (Allen et al., 1998)

- Crop development stage

   refers to the duration (in days) of specific crop growth stage; initial, development, mid-season, and late season. Of course, the duration of a specific growth stage is climate and crop-dependent.
- Rooting depth refers to the depth of the rooting system at the beginning and the end of the growing season. Effective root depth is the upper soil layer from which the plants can take 80 % of water. Rooting depth is soil type and crop dependent. Vegetables are shallow-rooted (< 60 cm), while for example, maize shas deeper rooting depth > 120 cm.
- **Critical depletion fraction** is the critical soil moisture level where the first drought stress occurs affecting crop ETo and yield. It is a fraction of Total Available Water (TAW) that usually ranges from 0.4 to 0.6. Sensitive crops with limited rooting systems under high evaporative conditions have lower values, while the higher values are for deep and densely rooting crops and low evaporation rates.
- The yield response factor is the crop yield response to the water supply. It relates relative yield decrease to relative evapotranspiration deficit.

Critical depletion fraction and Yield response data are available on: <u>http://www.fao.org/3/</u> <u>x0490e/x0490e0e.htm</u>.

#### 2.2.4. General soil data

The next step is to enter soil data. It is first necessary to enter the data on **Total available water (TAW)**. Simply said, TAW (Figure 7) is the difference in soil water content between **Field water capacity (FWC)** and Wilting point (WP). FWC is defined as the content of water, on a mass or volume basis, remaining in a soil 2 or 3 days after having been wetted with water and after free drainage is negligible (Soil Science Glossary Terms Committee, 2008).

FWC as a soil moisture content comes after the drainage has stopped and it represents the upper limit of the available water or the maximum amount of water that soil can hold. This indicates, of course, that the FWC is soil type dependent.



FWC = FIELD WATER CAPACITY MAD = MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE DEPLETION WP = WILTING POINT RAW = READILY AVAILABLE WATER TAW = TOTAL AVAILABLE WATER

#### Figure 8. Soil water content

Total available water differs from **Readily available water** (**RAW**) which is the SWC that could be easily taken by the plants. RAW is the difference in SWC from FC and **Management allowable depletion (MAD)**, the desired soil-water deficit at the time of irrigation, and It can be expressed as the percentage of available soil-water capacity or as the depth of water that has been depleted in the root zone (USDA, 1997). When the MAD is reached, the lack of water in the soil should be compensated with irrigation water to prevent crop stress. This means that the RAW is equal to MAD. As the SWC decreases, it is more difficult for the plants to extract the water from the soil because water becomes more strongly bonded to soil particles. Afterward, in the case of drought and dry farming the **Wilting point (WP)** is reached. At this point SWC is low and plants cannot extract water so at the end they are wilting. This process is mainly influenced by soil texture (Rai et al., 2017). As presented in Figure 9. **the maximum rain infiltration rate** must be entered. Infiltration refers to soil ability to enable the water movement into and through the soil profile. It is a measure of how fast the water enters the soil (mm/day, mm/ hour) and it greatly affects irrigation scheduling. In case of low infiltration rate the ponding or waterlogging can occur while in a case of high infiltration rate, an excessive amount of rainfall or irrigation water can cause nitrogen losses and contamination of aquafers with pesticide.

Soil - C:\Program	Data\CROPWAT\data\soils\FAC	)\medium.soi			
	Soil name	Medium (loam)			
— General soil data —	Total available soil moist	ure (FC - WP)	290,0	mm/meter	
	Maximum rain i	nfiltration rate	40	mm/day	
	Maximum	rooting depth	900	centimeters	
	Initial soil moisture depletion	on (as % TAM)	0	%	
	Initial available	e soil moisture	290,0	mm/meter	

Figure 9. Soil properties

Basic infiltration rates for various soil types (Table 1) are presented by Brouwer et al. (1985) and could be used in the Crop-Wat model as reference data.

Table 1. Infiltration rates for various soil types

Soil type	Infiltration rate (mm/hour)
Sand	< 30
Sandy loam	20 - 30
Loam	10 - 20
Clay loam	5 - 10
Clay	1 - 5

Then the Maximum rooting depth (MRD) is to be entered in the model. MRD is one of the factors that determine TAW. Values of MAD can be found at: http://www.fao.org/3/x0490e/x0490e0e.htm.

The next step is to enter the **initial Soil moisture depletion (SMD)** which is expressed as % of TAW. SMD is a measure of soil moisture between field capacity and existing moisture content and multiplied by the root depth (Walker, 1989), and basically, it represents the lack of soil water content at the beginning of irrigation.

At the end of the soil data, the value of **Initially available soil moisture** is to be entered. This value represents the SWC at the beginning of irrigation (mm/m). As it can be seen, the irrigation practice is highly dependent on soil science. Therefore, the efficiency of irrigation scheduling requires a thorough evaluation of the soil properties.

# 2.3. Analysis of Crop Water Requirements (CWR)

Crop water requirements (CWR) refer to the amount of water required to compensate for the evapotranspiration losses from a cropped field during a specified period of time. Given that it is important to know the difference between Net irrigation and Irrigation rate. Net irrigation is the amount of water needed to meet the crop water loss through evapotranspiration (ETo) during the growing season. This means that the net irrigation is mainly rainfall and ETo dependent. Irrigation rate is the amount of water added in one irrigation event, and it depends on soil properties (soil bulk den-

sity (g cm<sup>-3</sup>), field water capacity (FWC, %), and soil moisture (%)) and root depth (cm). Irrigation time has the most significant impact on the yield and quality of the crops because if too early or too late irrigation events can cause overirrigation, or it could cause drought stress. That is why the growing competition for water, especially in the agricultural sector demands the correct time for the application of irrigation water. Furthermore, it is important to maximize the efficiency of crop water productivity (CWP) and to find a strategy for saving water and better use of irrigation water.

In the CropWat model decadal CWR are presented according to growth stages, i.e. initial, development, middle, and late. As it can be seen from Figure 10, in this example the kc values range from 1.15 to 0.44, while the ETc ranges from 0.97 at the end of the growing season (September) to 6.21 mm/day during the summer month July.

ETo stat	i <b>on</b> Osijek					Crop	Maize FA0600	
Rain station Osijek 2009		009			Planting date 21/04			
Month	Decade	Stage	Kc	ETc	ETc	Eff rain	Irr. Req.	
			coeff	mm/day	mm/dec	mm/dec	mm/dec	
Apr	3	Init	1.15	3.23	32.3	1.0	31.3	
May	1	Init	1.15	3.72	37.2	3.1	34.2	
May	2	Init	1.15	4.18	41.8	4.4	37.4	
May	3	Deve	1.17	4.26	46.8	6.0	40.8	
Jun	1	Deve	1.20	4.26	42.6	9.0	33.6	
Jun	2	Deve	1.22	4.38	43.8	11.2	32.5	
Jun	3	Mid	1.25	4.95	49.5	7.5	42.1	
Jul	1	Mid	1.26	5.69	56.9	0.1	56.8	
Jul	2	Mid	1.26	6.21	62.1	0.0	62.1	
Jul	3	Mid	1.26	5.75	63.2	0.1	63.2	
Aug	1	Mid	1.26	5.20	52.0	7.6	44.5	
Aug	2	Mid	1.26	4.83	48.3	11.4	36.9	
Aug	3	Late	1.25	4.27	46.9	7.6	39.4	
Sep	1	Late	1.00	3.04	30.4	0.1	30.3	
Sep	2	Late	0.70	1.84	18.4	0.0	18.4	
Sep	3	Late	0.44	0.97	6.8	0.0	6.7	

Figure 10. Crop water requirements (CWR)

Now the CWR is expressed as ETc, meaning that during the tested growing season 679.1 mm of water is required to fulfill crop water demands. Yet, as previously calculated there was 68.9

mm of effective rain during the growing season (April-September) which means that the Net irrigation (irrigation requirements) for maize crop is 610 mm.

# 2.4. Irrigation scheduling

A CropWat model is a useful tool that can be used for irrigation scheduling, water savings, and for achieving high crop yields. In general, irrigation scheduling is based upon the monitoring of SWC and the CWR. Of course, it is also soil type, climate, and crop dependent.

In this example, the planting date was set on April 21<sup>st</sup>, while the harvest date is September 27<sup>th</sup>

(Figure 11), and the yield reduction is set to be 0.0%. This means that it is planned to achieve the maximum yield potential. Here is the Net irrigation (mm) expressed as Irrigation rate (mm) so that there is no lack of water (deficit) and also there are no water losses. The difference between Net irrigation water (469.2 mm) and **Gross Irrigation Requirement** (**GIR**) is clearly visible (Figure 11).

Crop irr	igation so	hedule									Ξ Σ
ETo	station	Osijek		Сгор	Maize F.	40600		Planting	date 21/0	)4	Yield re
Rain	station	Osijek 2009		Soil	Medium	(loam)		Harvest date 27/09			0.0 %
Table form Irriga Daily	nat Ition sch I soil moi	edule sture balar	ice	Ti Applica Field	ming: Ir ation: F d eff. 7	rigate at cri lefill soil to f 0 %	tical depletio ield capacity	in į			
Date	Day	Stage	Rain	Ks	Eta	Depl	Net Irr	Deficit	Loss	Gr. Irr	Flow
			mm	fract.	%	%	mm	mm	mm	mm	l/s/ha
2 May	12	Init	0.0	1.00	100	56	69.1	0.0	0.0	98.7	0.95
30 May	40	Dev	0.0	1.00	100	57	87.2	0.0	0.0	124.5	0.51
4 Jul	75	Mid	0.0	1.00	100	55	103.4	0.0	0.0	147.7	0.49
22 Jul	93	Mid	0.0	1.00	100	56	104.1	0.0	0.0	148.7	0.96
20 Aug	122	Mid	0.0	1.00	100	56	105.4	0.0	0.0	150.6	0.60
27 Sep	End	End	0.0	1.00	0	40					
– Totals		Total gro Total i Total irrig	oss irrigati net irrigati jation loss	ion 670.2 ion 469.1 :es 0.0	2 mm mm			Tot Effectiv Tota	al rainfall ve rainfall I rain loss	194.9 191.1 3.8	mm mm mm
	Ac Pote	ctual water ntial water	use by cr use by cr	op 678.1 op 678.1	mm mm		Moi: Actual irr	st deficit a igation rea	at harvest quirement	74.0 487.1 99.1	mm mm
	Deficie	ncy irrigati	on sched	ule 0.0	%			LIIICI	ency fain	30.1	~

Figure 11. Irrigation scheduling

GIR (670.2 mm) is net irrigation water to be applied in reality, considering water losses (deep percolation, leaching, runoff, water application). Here, NIR is 70% (Field efficiency, Figure 11) from GIR. The efficiency of the irrigation system can range from 0.55 (light soil) to 0.8 (drip and trickle irrigation system). Since the model is set to calculate the irrigation scheduling without the yield reduction, the Efficiency of irrigation scheduling is 100%.

Actual water use by crop (678.1 mm) is the ETc for maize crop (April-September). Furthermore, the model calculates the moist deficit at harvest time, which in this example is 74 mm. Irrigation efficiency is set as 70 % which is a default value for a well-managed sprinkler irrigation system. In this example, the Irrigation time is set on irrigation at critical depletion. This means that the irrigation event will occur when the SWC is at a MAD level and that the irrigation water will refill soil water content to FWC. It should be stated that the model offers different criteria for irrigation timing (Figure 12) that are used for non-rice crops:

- Irrigate at user-defined intervals,
- Irrigate below or above critical depletion,
- the irrigation event will occur when the SWC is below or above MAD,
- Irrigate at fixed interval per stage,
- Irrigate at fixed depletion,
- Irrigate at given ETc reduction per stage,
- Irrigate at given yield reduction.

Climate / ETo	Rainfall	Non-rice crop scheduling	Rice scheduling	Land Preparation (r
Scheduling criteria for non-r Irrigation timing	ice crops			
Irrigate at critical de	pletion			•
Irrigate at user defin	ed intervals			
Irrigate at fixed deple Irrigate at given ETc Irrigate at given yield No irrigation (rainfed nemi son to hen ca	etion rop reduction per sta 1 reduction ) pacity	age		
	Refill soil m	oisture content to 100% fie	ld capacity	
Irrigation efficiency	Refill soil m Irriga	oisture content to 100% fie ation efficiency: 70	ld capacity %	

Figure 12. Scheduling criteria for non-rice crops

In the irrigation scheduling graph (Figure 13), the readily available water, total available water, and soil water depletion for the entire growing season are presented, and basically, it shows the crop irrigation schedule from Figure 11.



Figure 13. Irrigation scheduling graph



ETo calculator is software designed by the experts of FAO (Land and Water Division), and its main task is to calculate reference evapotranspiration. Reference evapotranspiration (ETo) is the evapotranspiration rate from the reference surface (grass) that represents the evaporative demand of the atmosphere regardless of crop or agricultural practices. This means that ETo does not represent the shortage of water for a specific crop (maize, vegetables, or other crops) but for well-watered grass (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Reference grass ETo

Also, the soil is not considered to have an impact on ETo since water is abundantly available at the reference evapotranspiration surface. The only factor that has an impact on ETo is climate, i.e., air temperature, solar radiation, wind speed, and humidity. ETo is calculated from meteorological data with the use of the Penman-Monteith model which is selected as a reference method (Raes, 2009). According to Allen et al. (1998), ETo expresses the evaporating power of the atmosphere at a specific location and time of the year and does not consider the crop characteristics and soil factors. The ETo calculator is available at: http://www.fao.org/land-water/databases-and-software/ eto-calculator/en/.

# 3.1 ETo calculator example

After the software is started an interface shows database management with the option to select an existing data file or to create a new one (Figure 15). For this example, a new file will be created.

🛕 Main menu		$\times$
Data base m	anagement Path	
	🍋 Select a data file	
	🎽 Create a new file	
	ங Import climatic data from file	
	File None	
	Update Station characteristics	
	Data range	
	Data limits	
	Display — Meteorological data	
ETo calculati	ion date meteorological data lculate ETo ETo Calculator	

Figure 15. The interface of the ETo calculator

The given filename is Osijek 2018 since the ETo is assessed for the Osijek area, the year 2018. Following, the Station name is Osijek, and the Country name is Croatia. Location data are described with longitude and latitude data expressed in degrees and minutes, and altitude (meter above sea level). Further, the interior coastal location is chosen since Osijek is in a continental area of Croatia, also a semi-humid or humid area with light to moderate winds is marked. Monthly meteorological data for the period from January to December 2018 are used for ETo assessment (Figure 16).

Station	descri	ption —				-
Station	Osijek				-	
Country	Croatia					· · · ·
	- Location	<ul> <li>Degrees an</li> <li>Decimal deg</li> </ul>	id Minute grees	s		
Latitude	45	degrees	33 n	ninutes	North	•
Longitude	18	degrees	44 n	ninutes	East	-
Altitude	90	meter above sea level		at the o	oast	
Meteor	ologica	l Data -		in arid o in semi-l	r semi-ario humid or h	farea umidarea
Туре	C Daily C 10-daily (• Monthly		0	light win light to r	ds in area noderate	winds in area
	e			moderat	te to stron	ig winds in are
Time rang	d to a specific	year				
Time rang				Month	Decembe	• •
First Month	December	•	Last	( Monut		

Figure 16. Station description and location description and meteorological data

The next step is to set the climate parameters (Figure 17). Of course, the oC is chosen as temperature unit. Air temperature could be expressed as minimum and maximum or the mean air temperature.



Figure 17. Input data description

For this example, the mean air temperature is chosen. Air humidity could be expressed as the mean of relative air humidity (%), minimum and maximum air humidity (%), the mean of dew point temperature (°C), or the mean of actual vapor pressure (kPa). For this example, the mean relative air humidity is chosen. As for wind speed, the mean wind speed (m/s) is measured at 2 m height. Sunshine is expressed as hours of bright sunshine (n). Besides that the sunshine and radiation could be expressed as relative sunshine hours (n/N), solar radiation (MJ/ m<sup>2</sup> day), or net radiation (Rn). It should be noted that if some of the climate parameters are missing, the software offers calculations for wind speed, solar radiation, and air humidity. Figure 18 presents input climate data limits. For air temperature, the lower limit is -15 °C, and the upper limit is 45 °C which corre-

sponds to the Osijek region. The relative humidity ranges from 15 to 100 %, and wind speed from 0 to 8 m/s or 691.2 km/day.



Figure 18. Input climate data limits

Once given period can be corrected by adding or deleting a month or entire year (Figure 19). If the climate data are expressed as daily, then in this step it is possible to add or delete days and to adjust the study period.

1	Usijek			2 2 5
Country	Croatia			1 × 3
<ul> <li>Meteoro monthly meteoro</li> </ul>	logical logical data	Data —		
Time range				
<		records		>
First Month Jar First Year 20	nuary 💌	ĺ	Last Month Last Year	January v 2019
E Expand	lige		auj	Expand
Shrink				Shrink
Adjust C day per day C month per mo	onth		Adju Cd (• m	ay per day onth per month
Added 0	records		Added	l records

Figure 19. Time range determination

The next step is to enter climate data (Figure 20), meaning the mean air temperatures (oC), the mean of air humidity (%), wind speed (m/s), and sunshine hours

(n) for each month. If the climate data are expressed as daily data, then in this step daily data should be inserted for all previously mention climate parameters.

	Month	January	February	March	April	Мау	June	July
	Year	2018	2018	2018	2018	2018	2018	2018
Tmean	°C	4.5	0.6	4.6	16.5	20.1	21.0	22.1
RHmean	%	83.0	87.0	80.0	64.0	64.0	74.0	72.0
J(2)	m/sec	2.40	2.30	2.50	2.20	2.30	2.20	2.10
n	hour/day	3.20	2.00	2.70	8.30	9.70	7.60	8.10
То	mm/day	0.6	0.6	1.2	3.4	4.5	4.1	4.3

Figure 20. The input of meteorological data

After climate data have been entered the software calculates ETo for each month. If daily climate data are used, then the software calculates daily ETo. For better visual presentation, the ETo data can be presented as a plot (Figure 21).



Figure 21. Reference evapotranspiration presented as a plot

Once the ETo is calculated, the software offers to save results on PC as a report or to export a

climate file which could be used with AquaCrop (Figure 22).

ation Osijek	Country Cr	oatia	File Osijek2018.DTA
put data description	Meteorological data and ETo	Plot data Exp	ort results
	Export climate files	— Select —	Compose ETo report
FTO			
	o create climate files		to create a report
	<ul> <li>ETo file (*.ETo)</li> <li>air Temperature file (*.TMP)</li> </ul>		Input data     intermediate results
	o export the files		© reference evapotranspiration
t	o the DATA BASE of AquaCrop		to save the report on disk
AquaCrop			

Figure 22. Data saving



## 4.1. AquaCrop model

AquaCrop is a crop growth and productivity model created by the FAO's Land and Water Division experts. Crop productivity refers to the yield response to water describing the relationship between crop yield and water stress because of insufficient supply of water by rainfall or irrigation during the growing period (Raes et al., 2018). The model's main goal is to simulate the yield response to water of herbaceous crops and is particularly suited to address conditions where water is a key limiting factor in crop production (FAO, 2016). The flowchart of the AquaCrop model is presented in Figure 23, indicating the main components of the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum (FAO, 2016).



Figure 23. AquaCrop flowchart
The model is a useful tool for planning and making management decisions in irrigated and rainfed crop production. It helps to develop an irrigation schedule for maximum water productivity in different climate scenarios and to maximize water productivity in deficit irrigation. According to Raes et al. (2009), the AquaCrop evolves from the Ky approach by separating (i) the actual evapotranspiration (ET) into soil evaporation (E) and crop transpiration (Tr) and (ii) the final yield (Y) into biomass (B) and harvest index (HI). Furthermore, the separation of ET into soil evaporation and crop transpiration avoids the confounding effect of the non-productive consumptive use of water (soil evaporation). This is important especially when ground cover is incomplete early in the season or as the result of sparse planting. The separation of yield into biomass and harvest index allows the partitioning of the corresponding functional relations as a response to environmental conditions.

Raes et al. (2018) give features that distinguish AquaCrop from other crop models:

- its focus on water;
- the use of canopy cover instead of leaf area index;
- the use of water productivity (WP) values normalized for atmospheric evaporative demand and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration that confer the model an extended extrapolation capacity to diverse locations, seasons, and climate, including future climate scenarios;
- the relatively low number of parameters;
- input data which requires only explicit and mostly intuitive parameters and variables;
- a well-developed user interface;
- its considerable balance between accuracy, simplicity, and robustness;
- its applicability to be used in diverse agricultural systems that exist worldwide.

FAO (2017) gives the following limitations of the AquaCrop model:

- AquaCrop can simulate daily biomass production and final crop yields for herbaceous crops with single growth cycles only.
- AquaCrop is designed to predict crop yields at the single field scale (point simulations).

The field is assumed to be uniform without spatial differences in crop development, transpiration, soil characteristics, or management.  Only vertical incoming (rainfall, irrigation, and capillary rise) and outgoing (evaporation, transpiration, and deep percolation) water fluxes are considered.

# 4.2. AquaCrop application

Figure 24 presents the Aqua-Crop model interface with all the necessary data entered into the model: climate, crop, management (irrigation, field), and soil (soil profile, groundwater). At the bottom part of the interface is the simulation menu.



Figure 24. AquaCrop interface

#### 4.2.1 Climate file

The AquaCrop model gives the option to import data from an existing file or to create a climate file if the climate data are available for a specific location (Figure 25). The model gives the option to analyze daily, decade, or monthly climate data. In the AquaCrop model following climate data are used: solar radiation (MJ/day), rainfall (mm), minimum and maximum air temperatures (°C), and reference evapotranspiration (ETo, mm/day) and wind speed (km/ day). For this example, the monthly climate data are used. Some of the locations (weather stations) are previously integrated into the model and can

be used for the simulation of crop productivity. Climate data (sunshine hour, rainfall, minimum and maximum air temperatures, air humidity, wind speed) were obtained courtesy of Croatian meteorological and hydrological service, while the ETo was calculated by use of ETo calculator (see chapter 3). In the present analysis, a new climate file is created for the Osijek location, and the year 2018 (January to December). Plot rainfall data for the year 2018 are presented in Figure 26. Furthermore, ETo (Figure 27) and maximum and minimum air temperature (Figure 28) is allowed to be modified or exported as the mean of monthly or yearly values.

(double) Click a	File in the list to select
File Name	Description ^
Foggia.CLI	Foggia, Italy 1Jan2000-31Dec2001 - Data by Consiglio per la Ricer
Hawzen.CLI	Hawzen strategy
ima.CLI	Lima, Peru 1Jan-31Dec1995 - Data by International Potato Institut
osBanos.CLI	Los Banos, Philippines 1Jan-31Dec2004 - Data by International Ric
Dsijek.CLI	
Patancheru.CLI	Patancheru, India 1Jan-31Dec1996 - Data by International Crops (
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Selected File : Osijek.CLI	O     URD selection     Delete selected file

Figure 25. Climate data interface



Figure 26. Rainfall data

	city [ 1	erperature	1 002 1										
Reference e	vapo	transp	iration	(ETo	)								
Cataly FTo	Oattel	2018											
	Instead												
mm/day													
- 4.0 mm													
- 30													
2.0 mm													
1.0 ma													
1 2	2	4 5	5	T	g	9	10	11	1				
	~	*	man	rith			10						
nonthly data								310	CENTRE				
Plot daily data			🖱 Select a	nother ETo	fie	1		Plate	sport -				
			Display/U	iodate ETo (	Sata -			166	N 1011				

Figure 27. ETo data

🙈 Climatic data		-	
Description Rainfal ETo	Temperature 002		
Air temperature	25		
File Der	ratiption		
Osijek.TNP Os	ijek 2018		
			Tinax
40 °C			
- 30 °C			
20 °C			
a 'C			
1 2 3	4 5 6 7 8 9 10	11	12
1 January 2018	month	310	ecember 2018
monthly data ☐ Plot daily data	Select another Temperature file	Plot/ Mez	Export in monthly
X Cancel R Progr	Displey/Update Temperature data		fly values Save As

Figure 28. Air temperature data

# 4.2.2 Crop file

The same as with the climate file, one can choose to create a new crop file or to use one of the existing files that are integrated into the model. For the present analysis crop file is selected for maize with the beginning of the growing cycle on 23 March 2018 (Figure 29). In the crop file, the limited (development, production, fertility stress, calendar) and a full set of data with all crop parameters (development, ETo, production, water, temperature, salinity, fertility stress, calendar) can be chosen. This time, limited crop parameters are used. Crop canopy development is analyzed

according to calendar days. The threshold temperatures for crop development are 8 °C as base temperature and 30 °C as upper temperature. Here, the calendar days file is connected with the temperature file (in this example from 1 January to 31 December 2018). Direct sowing is chosen for maize crop, good initial canopy cover, and 75000 plants/ha. Furthermore, very fast canopy expansion almost entirely covers the canopy (96%). Green canopy cover (CC) is used to express the foliage development, and it represents the fraction of the soil surface covered by the canopy (Figure 30).

(double) Click a F	ile in the list to select	
File Name	Description	^
Barley.CRO	Crop file for Dejen (Tigray, Ethiopia)	-
BarleyGDD.CRO	Crop file for Dejen (Tigray, Ethiopia)	
Cotton.CRO	Default Cotton, Calendar (Cordoba, 15Apr86)	
CottonGDD.CRO	Default Cotton, GDD (Cordoba, 15Apr86)	
Maize.CRO	Default Maize, Calendar (Davis, 1Jun96)	
MaizeGDD.CRO	Default Maize, GDD (Davis, 1Jun96)	
		~
Selected File : Maize.CRO	>>> O UNDO selection >>>	5

Figure 29. Crop file

After the sowing, the CC is low since 0% of the soil surface is covered by the crop. During the mid-season, the canopy cover reaches a maximum value (1) when 100% of the soil surface is covered by the canopy, and it will depend on crop type and planting density (Figure 31). Canopy Growth coefficient (CGC) describes the expansion of CC from germination to extensive growth; low (germination), maximum (mid-season), and declining (late-season). In this example, crop development is studied in no water. fertility of salinity stress. Of course, water stress can affect the expansion of the 'leaves and eventually result in canopy senescence at an early stage. Water stress coefficients (Ks) are used to describe the effect of water stress on CC, (i)



Figure 30. Crop development

Ks for leaf expansion (Ksexp) with CGC as target crop parameter, (ii) and Ks for early canopy decline (Kssen). Here the CDC is the target crop parameter and represents Canopy Decline Coefficient (CDC), previously described as the CC declination. Ksexp is <1 and canopy expansion declines when the water content in the root zone drops below the threshold for leaf expansion. As for early canopy decline, Kssen is <1, and canopy decline is triggered in conditions where the soil water content in the root zone drops below the threshold. Lack of water during or after the flowering stage can reduce the yield and induce the reduction of HI whereby the duration and the magnitude of the drought stress will determine the reduction.



31. Canopy development

If water stress occurs after flowering or root enlargement it could result in Harvest index (HI) reduction (Figure 33). HI represents the relationship between the grain yield and aboveground biomass. FAO (2017) claims that depending on (i) when the water stress occurs during yield formation, (ii) the magnitude of the stress, and (iii) the sensitivity of the crop the adjustment can be upwards or downwards:

- As long as vegetative growth is still possible, the daily rate with which HI increases might be adjusted upwards if water stress affects leaf expansion. The enhancement of HI is the result of a decrease of the competition of leaf growth with reproductive growth;
- The daily rate with which HI increases during yield forma-



32. Flowering and yield formation

tion might be adjusted downwards if water stress induces stomatal closure. It is the corresponding reduction in assimilate supply that will slow down the increase in HI. At a permanent wilting point the reduction becomes 100%.

At sowing the effective rooting depth is at a minimum. The maximum effective root depth is 2.30 m (for deep-rooted crops), while the maximum rooting depth is on the 108<sup>th</sup> day after sowing (Figure 34). The conditions affecting rooting depth are previously described by (FAO, 2017):

- When the root zone depletion exceeds the threshold for stomatal closure the incremental daily
- root deepening under optimal conditions is adjusted by multiplying the expansion rate

- with the water stress coefficient for stomatal closure (Ks<sub>sto</sub>). The water stress alters the shoot/root ratio since water stress affecting canopy expansion occurs earlier than water stress affecting stomatal closure (which affects the expansion of the root zone);
- If the sub-soil at the front of root zone expansion is too dry,



33. Harvest index

Biomass water productivity is shown in Figure 34, and basically, it represents the amount of water that is transpired in relation to a certain amount of biomass (kg/m<sup>3</sup>). Since soil evaporation should be considered then ET water productivity is introduced and it shows the kg of crop yield per unit of evapotranspired water (m3). As it can be seen from Figure 35, different indicative ranges are presented for C3 the root deepening will slow down and can even stop if the soil water content at the front is at a permanent wilting point;

• Root deepening is slow in soil layers with low penetrability (expressed as a percentage between 100 and 0%). Below the restrictive layer, the root zone expansion is normal again.



34. Root deepening

and C4 crops. This is because the C3 plants are able to moderately increase crop water productivity by restricting the transpiration process. C4 plants (maize, sorghum, sugarcane) tend to be more productive in high light and temperature environments which is an important fact dry in improving of water productivity (WP) in regions with arid climate or drought conditions. WP is normalized for the climate by dividing the transpiration and ETo, so that it could be applicable to different locations and seasons. While the normalization for  $CO_2$ refers to considering the WP for a reference atmospheric  $CO_2$ concentration (369.41 ppm, the atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration for the year 2000, FAO 2018). If the year with different  $CO_2$  con-



35. Water productivity

## 4.2.3 Management file

The management file is divided into categories, irrigation, and field (Figure 24). In the AquaCrop model are choices of rainfed (irrigation is not considered) or irrigated crop. As for irrigation methods, the user chooses sprinkler irrigation, surface, and drip irrigation. Furthermore, the fraction of wetted surface, and specification of irrigation water quality, timing, and centrations is analyzed, then WP is multiplied with the correction factor (fco2). The  $f_{CO_2}$  is >1 for CO<sub>2</sub> concentration higher than the reference year, and <1 for lower CO<sub>2</sub> concentration. Finally, the crop characteristics file ends with the crop calendar with the given date and length of specific growth stages (Figure 36).

iob enterinari (iio		
$n^{2}$	14N •	growing cycle
	Jan Pab Mar A day 1 after sowin	pr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
	·	maturity
Growth Stages	days	Data
		22 - March - 2013
From day 1 after sowing:		
from day 1 after sowing: to emergence	6	
From day 1 after sowing to emergence to maximum canopy cover		28 Harch 2018
rom day 1 after sowing to emergence to maximum canopy cover to maximum rooting depth		28 Harch 2018 28 Harch 2018 5 15 Hay 2018 8 July 2018
rom day 1 after sowing: to emergence		28 Harch 2018     215 Harch 2018     314 2018     314 2018     314 2018     7 July 2018
rom day 1 after sowing to emergence to maximum canopy cover to maximum rooting depth to start of canopy senesen to maturity		28 Harch 2018           21 Harch 2018           21 Shay 2018           23 July 2018           21 July 2018           21 July 2018           21 July 2018
rom day 1 after sowing: to emergence	54 	2         2         2         2         2         3
rom day 1after sowing: to emergence to maximum canopy cover to maximum rooting depth to start of canopy senesen to start of canopy senesen to maturity Length building up H1.		1         1

36. Crop calendar

amount of water for each irrigation event. In this example, the maize crop is irrigated, so the irrigation schedule is used from data base. Sprinkler irrigation is chosen method with 80% of wetted soil surface.

Irrigation time can be determined by:

 fixed interval, that is the number of days between two irrigations events. The interval will depend on the ETc, effective rainfall, soil water holding capacity, and allowable depletion.

- allowable depletion (mm)
- allowable depletion as % of

readily available water (RAW). It is assumed that the crop is irrigated so that the soil water content is back to field water capacity, while the irrigation water quality is excellent (Figure 37). The irrigation file is completed by specifying irrigation events, i.e. day, water depletion as % of RAW, and date. Under Field management practices users chose soil fertility level, weed management, mulches, soil bunds, and field surfaces. Basically, parameters that have an impact on soil water status, run-off, or evaporation. The difference between the CROPWAT and AQUACROP models is visible here since in the first model only climate, soil, and crop data are considered, while in the second model also the crop management is taken into consideration. The soil fertility classes are non-limiting, near-optimal, moderate, about half, poor, and very poor.

🙏 Irrigation manage	ement			_		<									
Generation	Generation of irrigation schedule														
Mode Irrigation me	thod Time and Depth criteria	3													
Time and	depth criteria		Depth Criteria —	- Irrigation v	vater quality										
soil bu	unds C Fib C All C All C Wa	Criteria ked interval owable depletio owable depletio ater layer betw	© Back to Field Ca © Fixed net applic n (mm water) n (% of RAW) een bunds	apacity cation	xcellent ▼ 0.0 ↓d5/n	n									
Day No. 1 - day	1 after sowing: 22 March			D											
MARCH 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 15 16 17 18 (3) 20	Date	Day No.	Depleted % RAW	To FC +/-(mm)	dS/m ^	1									
	22 March	1	80	0	0.0	1									
Growing cycle															
Day No. 125 - m	naturity: 24 July		Clear A	ll Events											
X Cancel		🕼 Main Mer	าน		Save as	_									

Figure 37. Irrigation schedule

Soil fertility stress corresponds to CC, CGC reduction, canopy cover declination, and WP reduction. Classes of soil cover by mulches are: none, spars, about half, significant and complete. If the mulch is taken into consideration, then the user can choose the organic or plastic mulch or user-specified mulch. The type of mulch determines the reduction of evaporation losses, e.g. 50% for organic mulches, 100% for synthetic mulches, and 75% for user-specified mulch. For the present analysis, it is assumed that the soil surface is not covered with mulch (Figure 38). As for field surface practices, the user can choose situations field surface practices do not affect the run-off where the estimation of surface runoff is based on soil profile characteristics. Thant the situation where the field surface practice affects surface runoff, prevent surface run-offs such as tied ridges and closed-end furrows. Also, the situation with soil bund that prevents surface run-off, and store excess water.



Figure 38. Mulches file

#### 4.2.4 Soil file

Similar to previous datasets, a new soil file can be created or one of the indicative values for soil datasets (sand, sandy clay, sandy clay loam, sandy loam, silt, silt clay loam, silt loam, silty clay) can be used. The user can choose up to five soil horizons where each soil horizon has its own specified characteristic. The characteristics are (Figure 39) soil thickness, soil water content, that is permanent wilting point (PWP), field capacity (FC), saturation (SAT), and total available water (TAW). User can choose between the soil without the restrictive soil layer and specify the soil depth on which the restrictive soil layer is located. Restrictive layer means horizon or layer that restricts one or more physical, chemical, or thermal properties that significantly reduce movement of water and air through the soil, restrict roots or provide an unfavorable root environment. USDA (2016) states that a "restrictive layer" is a nearly continuous layer that has one or more physical, chemical, or thermal properties that significantly impede the movement of water and air through the soil or that restrict

roots, or otherwise provide an unfavorable root environment. Examples are bedrock, cemented layers, dense layers, and frozen layers. ,The next step is to adjust soil capillary rise. According to Lu and Likos (2004), the capillary rise is a well-known unsaturated soil phenomenon that describes the movement of pore water from lower elevation to higher elevation driven by the hydraulic head gradient acting across the curved pore air/pore water interface. The author states three fundamental physical characteristics related to capillary rise that are of primary practical concern: the maximum height of capillary rise, the fluid storage capacity of capillary rise, and the rate of capillary rise (Figure 40). The soil file is completed by specifying groundwater. As in previous datasets, a new groundwater file can be created or one of the indicative values for groundwater can be used. User can choose the condition without or with the present groundwater table. In late one, groundwater table can vary with the soil depth, or it can have constant depth and salinity.



Figure 39. Soil water content characteristics

# 

Figure 40. Soil capillary rise

## 4.2.5 Simulation

At the beginning of a simulation, the initial conditions for soil water content (Figure 41) and salt balance (Figure 412) in the root zone needs to be specified. The model calculates the amount of water in soil and salt accumulation at the end of the growing cycle based upon the initial situation. The best way to establish the initial situation is to measure the soil water content and salt accumulation, ideally one day after sowing. In case the samples cannot be taken on the day of sowing then the values from the previously taken samples are taken, and in that case, the simulation starts on the day when the samples were taken. If data on soil water content are not available, they are estimated so that it is assumed that the initial water content in the soil was close to the field water capacity during wintertime. That way the simulation will start for example during January although the sowing was in springtime. For the Mediterranean region, the middle months of August are taken as the initial period when the water content in the soil is close to the value of the wilting point.



Figure 41. Initial soil water content

The rainfall data before sowing can be evaluated according to cumulative rainfall, 10-days or as a few successive days (Figure 43). The salt content of the soil is an important factor in crop production, especially in an irrigated field. Irrigation with water



Figure 43. Rainfall data

In the AquaCrop model, the soil salinity is simulated using soil salinity stress coefficient (Kssalt) and average electrical conductivity of the saturation soil-paste extract (ECe) from



Figure 42. Initial salt balance

with increased salt content or raising the level of groundwater with increased salt content results in the accumulation of salt in the surface layer of the soil. Increased salt concentration has a negative effect on crop growth and yield.



Figure 44. Canopy cover (CC)

the root zone. The drop in yield due to the stress caused by the increased salt content comes because of canopy cover (CC) reduction as well as stomata closure (Figure 44). In such conditions, the CC is reduced because the growing capacity of the crop is decreased. Furthermore, when there is a higher salt concentration in soil, soil water potential is lower due to the osmotic potential and the water is less available to the crop as well as stomatal closure which clearly affects transpiration.

Different criteria for evaluation of air temperature before sowing can be specified. That is, daily minimum air temperature for each day of a given number of consecutive days. Then, cumulative and sum of growing

Simulation run     REPEAT status     Repeat     Solv	10         data
Climate	Soil water balance
Imput: 1 Angust 2018           graving         "C.day           CD2: 195.55 gon           ET0:	Overner         13.14/268         result (19.09)         result (19.09)
ETo: 247.4 mm Rain: 329.7 mm	at LSO m Capillary Rise : - 0.0 - 138.2
Ini: 330.4 m	

Figure 46. CO2 concentration

degrees days (GGD). Specification of the first and last day could be used for the estimation of planting dates in future conditions. Furthermore, simulation for future conditions, i.e. climate change gives the opportunity to analyze the impact of higher air temperature, rainfall pattern, and CO2 concentration (Figure 46) on crop productivity. For example, the increase in CO2 concentration will reduce crop transpiration, yet significantly less than it will increase the biomass water productivity (Figure 47).

Conc. Cog dave [ like   Statute   St	REPEAT	advance – st 2018 mm/day mm/day mm/day d5/m	C to and of smalet C 20 days (* to date 31 * OUTPUT 31 July 2018	an (31 July 2018) July 2018 Production Biomass 26:170 Dry Yield 12:563	ton,fha ton,fha	Stresses temperature (Somess) value atrease some service and the service sof first they week in the service	average erop cycle 20 % 7 % 13 % none none
Harvest Index (HI)  (Bot d water does so H  by point for the set of the set o	Grov Bior produce Actual Poters	wth stag mass ad since start of I produced tial biomass	imulation	ton/ha 26.170 30.161 - 87 %	Crop o Length (r ET wa 6.21 kg	cycle arting from perminator(c ter productivity (ried) per m3 water evaportansp	125 days
H1(adjusted) = 48.0 % = 1.00 x 1.00 %	Har Biomas for giver at start buri HI(a	vest Ind let of water s s ratio (%) is sol for 1%) fowering period etative period ng yield formation adjusted	ex (HI) tress on H 	0 % <= 15 %	Harves 48.0	HI <- 49.0 % (Reference Forecring period Cegree of pointson 120 % ● HI <= 49.0 % tindex	HQ

Figure 47. Biomass



Available information is of great importance for improving water management as well as agricultural productivity in general. The ability to access and share data has improved the use of ICT (Information and communication technology) in irrigation management by improved water use. This refers not only to farm levels but to governments in planning and implementation of irrigation strategies. Several agricultural-irrigation databases are now available, which provide information and services that facilitate the planning and management in agriculture generally. Databases are free, easy to access, and up to date so that the farmers, scientists, and professionals can easily get the information they are looking for. Some of the databases that are used in irrigation planning and water management are Aquastat, Aquamap, Climwat, and FAOSTAT.

# 5.1. AQUASTAT

Aquastat is a useful tool in water management and global water information system provided by FAO (Land and Water). It provides data, information, and fact sheets related to water resources, water uses, and agricultural water management. The following information are available in Aquastat: country database and profiles, datasets and fact sheets, maps, tables, regional water resources, and water uses. Furthermore, it provides information about irrigation water use, a global map of irrigation areas by source of water, water, and gender, water-related country-level institutional framework, wastewater, etc.

The Aquastat is available on: http://www.fao.org/aquastat/ en/.

# 5.2. AQUAMAPS

Aquamaps is developed by FAO experts and it is complimentary to Aquastat's statistical data. It provides regional and global spatial database on water and agriculture that are commonly used for GIS so that the water actions, decision-making, and investments are more efficient. Spatial datasets in Aquamaps are regional, global, and organized in the following themes (Figure 48):

 Irrigation and infrastructures -Dataset shows area equipped for irrigation, geo-referenced database on dams (Africa, Central Asia, Middle East, Southern eastern Asia), irrigation areas, percentages of the irrigated area serviced by groundwater.

Q	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Search for locations	<			N.R	Car	*	1.2.
( <del>+</del> )	Explore Data				A 'A 'A			
		. 8		AQUAMAPS	Water Productivity Ren	note Sensing (WaPOR)	External Datasource	My Data
Your worl	kbench is empty lore Data' above to			Q	Search	h the catalogue		Irrigation / Infrastructure
• Bro	wse the Data Catalogue			Hydrolog	jical Basins		>	Description
• Loa	d your own data onto the map		100	C Rivers			•	This is where the description goes
'V' TIP <i>A</i> /	l your active data sets will be listed here			Irrigation	i / Infrastructure		Catalogue Service (CSW) URL	
				Geo-refer	renced database of dams (Afi	rica)	۲	https://data.apps.fao.org/map/catalog/srv/eng/csw
		R.	2	Geo-refer	renced database of dams (Ce	ntral Asia)	$\oplus$	
				Geo-refer	renced database of dams (Mi	ddle East)	۲	
				Geo-refer	renced database of dams (So	uthern Eastern Asia)	$\oplus$	
				Irrigation	Areas v.5 (Global - 5 arc mini	utes)	$\oplus$	
				Percentaj	ge of irrigated area serviced t	oy groundwater (Global)	$\oplus$	
				Climate			÷.	
				Analyses			÷	
				Default la	ayers		÷.	

Figure 48. Irrigation infrastructure dataset

- Climate dataset Dataset shows a map of aridity, monthly and yearly grids of precipitation and ETo, and rain days/month.
- Hydrological basins by continent
- Inland water bodies and major rivers of the world
- Analyses human pressure on land and water, major agricultural system, land salinization due to irrigation (Figure 49), percentages of area equipped for irrigation, etc.

Aquamaps is available on: <u>https://data.apps.fao.org/aqua-maps/</u>.



Figure 49. Proportional of land salinized due to irrigation (<u>https://data.apps.fao.org/aquamaps/</u>)

# 5.3. CLIMWAT

CLIMWAT is database formulated by the Water Development and Management Unit and the Climate Change and Bioenergy Unit of FAO that provides the monthly mean values of the following climatic parameters:the mean of daily maximum temperature (°C), the mean of daily minimum temperature (°C), the mean of relative humidity (%), the mean of wind speed (km/ day), the mean of sunshine (h/ day), the mean of solar radiation (MJ/m2/day), monthly rainfall (mm/month) and monthly effective rainfall (mm). The Reference evapotranspiration (ETo) is calculated with the Penman-Monteith method and expressed as mm/day.

CLIMWAT can be combined with the CROPWAT model which is previously presented in chapter 2. The CLIMWAT data can be extracted for single or multiple stations in the format suitable for their use with the CROPWAT model. For this example, the Osijek station is chosen (Figure 50). When the specific climate station is chosen, the interface presents the location's longitude and latitude. After the country is selected, one can choose to display all weather

stations within a selected country or within and around the selected country. Afterward, data are exported as a file that can be used as a climate file in the CROPWAT model.

Target Location or Country	
Choose target coordinates and number o	of neighbouring stations
Location (decimal): Longitu	ude: 12.483°, Latitude: 41.9
Location (°,',"): Longitu	ade: 12°, 28', 58", E
Latitu	ade: 41°, 54', 0", N
Number of stations to be se	elected: 10 Cancel OK
or choose a country from the list.	
CHAD CHILE CHINA COLOMBIA COMOROS CONGO	Display all stations within selected country.
COOK ISLANDS	

Figure 50. CLIMWAT interface



# 6.1. Partial equilibrium models and their applications

Economic models provide a simplified view and analyze complex phenomena of economic reality and are also considered useful tools for linking mathematical theory with statistical data. For the analysis of economic phenomena in agricultural markets and policy, various methods of economic modeling have been developed, and one of the most commonly used is modelling using partial equilibrium models.

Partial equilibrium models usually simulate international markets for a particular group of market goods, e.g., agricultural goods. Usually, partial equilibrium models see the agricultural sector as a closed system with no links to the rest of the economy. Nevertheless, the influences of the rest of the domestic and world economy on the agricultural sector can be included in a top-down manner by changing parameters and exogenous variables.

Partial equilibrium models can be the single or multi-product, multi-product models can capture the supply and demand interactions of different agricultural products. They also incorporate exogenous variables such as technological change, world population, and household income into their supply-demand relationships.

International trade in agriculture in these types of models generally focuses on trade in primary goods. That is, they cover agricultural supply, demand, and trade for unprocessed agricultural products or first-degree agricultural products processing without taking into account trade in processed food products.

The standard agri-food market partial equilibrium model must have the following characteristics:

- global coverage
- parametric differences between countries represented in the model
- dynamic feature
- policy representation
- theoretical consistency
- exogenous market factors that are non-agricultural Quantitative models are important sophisticated tools for analyzing the impact of agricultural

policies and other exogenous changes on key agricultural markets. One of the modelling approaches used to analyze such impacts is AGMEMOD (AGricultural MEmber states MODelling), an econometric, dynamic, partial equilibrium, multi-country, multi-market model. AGME-MOD model provides extensive details of the agricultural sector in the individual EU Member States over common country model templates and the EU as a whole through the combined EU 27 model. Typical AGME-MOD applications refer to the:

- Medium-term market projections
- Set-aside/ ecological focus areas and payments
- Modelling of Production quotas whenever applied for the countries
- Resource demand for biofuels
- Fertilizer policies for some countries
- Rainfall data for some countries
- Landing Obligation

Simulations of the impact of irrigation on the growth of crops production volume due to the increase in productivity can effectively be projected by Partial Equilibrium (PE) models. PE models incorporate more details on production and policy instruments and describe one sector or a group of closely related products (Salvatici et al., 2001). Generally, PE models are used for quantitative impact assessments of agricultural policy reforms, but they can be used in various simulations of the commodity markets within the agricultural sector such as grains and oilseeds markets. Such simulations of various agricultural commodity markets are called "outlooks" and they present detailed medium-term (10 years) projections of key agrarian-policy indicators (production, yield, imports, exports, etc.) within individual agri-food markets.

Various PE models are developed so far, but today there are three core partial equilibrium models in the Integrated Modelling Platform for Agro-economic Commodity and Policy Analysis (iMAP) hosted by the EU Joint Research Center (IRC) (M'barek et al., 2012; M'barek and Delincé, 2015). One of the core models in the iMAP platform is PE model AGMEMOD - (Agriculture Member State Modelling) which application in simulation of the impact of irrigation on agricultural production will be presented (Figure 51).



Figure 51. Role of AGMEMOD in the framework of the iMAP modelling platform at the JRC (Salamon et al., 2017)

#### 6.1.1 AGMEMOD (PE) model

The AGMEMOD model is an econometric, dynamic, multiproduct, multi-country partial equilibrium (PE) model. The main purpose of the model is to produce medium-term projections or market outlooks for key agricultural products by 2030. The modelling strategy uses the bottom-up approach, based on country-level models, using a common country model template, which is combined into a composite EU model (Chantreuil et al., 2012). The Member State model is composed of commodity market sub-models (for grains:

soft and durum wheat, barley, and corn; for oilseeds: rapeseed, soybean, and sunflower; for livestock and meat: cattle, beef, pigs, pork, poultry, sheep and mutton; and for milk and dairy products: cheese, butter, whole milk powder and skimmed milk powder), where each commodity market is based on annual time-series data. In the case of Croatia, the data range from 1995 to 2018 and are compiled mainly from national sources (Croatian Bureau of Statistics and Ministry of Agriculture). The database covers data on production, food and feed consumption, imports, and exports in the

form of market balance sheets. As mentioned, data is collected from national statistical institutes, EUROSTAT, research institutes, or from industry sources, but the database in the model itself has to be organized in a specific manner (Figure 52).



Figure 52. AGMEMOD data sources

A plausible and consistent database is necessary in order to modelling process to perform well. The criteria for assessing the admissibility of data include:

- reliability and accessibility of the data series and their up-dating;
- additivity of variables: the country level numbers for many variables have to add-up to acceptable totals for the EU as a whole (e.g., the national commodity balance sheets must add-up to that for the EU);
- data consistency across all models for the variables that drive the individual models, (e.g., the

currency exchange rates);

- availability of the projections for the macroeconomic variables that drive the models (e.g., GDP, inflation, population growth);
- relevance of the data to the users of the results.

The model uses two specific types of variables which can generally be divided into endogenous and exogenous and each variable has a unique mnemonic and can only be allocated to one parameter type. The general logic behind variable type and how mnemonic will look inside the model is presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Parameter types used in AGMEMOD

Parameter type	Meaning	Variable type
V2(P_A,C,T1)	Product P and Activity A in Country C in year T1; endogenously calculated	endogenous in model
V(P_A,C,T1)	Product P and Activity A in Country C in year T1; fixed on the last observed year	exogenous in model
VWP(P_A,T1)	World market price for Product P and Activity A in year T1	exogenous in model
VPOL(P_A,T1)	EU dependent Policy variable for Prod- uct P and Activity A in year T1	exogenous in model
VPOLC(P_A,C,T1)	Policy variable for Product P and Activ- ity A in Country C in year T1	exogenous in model
Vph(P,A,C,T1)	Policy Harmonization variable for Product P and Activity A in Country C in year T1	exogenous in model
VPOL_SFP(P_A,T1)	Single Farm Payment policy variable for Product P and Activity A in year T1; exogenous in model	exogenous in model
VMAC(A,C,T1)	Macroeconomic variable for Activity A in Country C in year T1	exogenous in model
DUM(D,T1)	Dummy D in year T1	exogenous in model
TREND (T1)	Trend T in year T1	exogenous in model

Commodity markets are modelled as interrelated in such a way that they reflect the competition between different products for resources, various interactions between crop and livestock markets, etc. Supply and demand, international trade, and prices are endogenously determined in the commodity market sub-models (Chantreuil et al., 2012). Country-specific models demonstrate changes in the behavior of economic stakeholders (producers and users), changes in exogenous data (macroeconomic variables, technical progress, policy instruments), and prices. Using sets of econometrically estimated equations, the model generates projections of endogenous variables from exogenous and endogenous data. In order for the model to satisfy the partial equilibrium condition, it is necessary to establish for each individual key agricultural market a market equilibrium, which implies the following equality at a certain product price:

*Production*<sub>t</sub>+Beginning stocks<sub>t</sub>+Imports<sub>t</sub>= Domestic use<sub>t</sub>+Ending stocks<sub>t</sub>+Exports<sub>t</sub>

In the commodity market sub-models (Figure 53), in this case for soft wheat, supply and demand, international trade, and prices are endogenously determined inside the model (Chantreuil et al., 2012).



Figure 53. Croatian AGMEMOD partial equilibrium model scheme

Country-level models demonstrate changes in the behavior of producers and consumers, changes in exogenous data (macroeconomic variables, technical progress, policy instruments), and prices. From exogenous and endogenous data using sets of econometrically estimated equations, the model generates simulations of endogenous variables. The general form of the econometric equation according to which the model derives the

output variables is the regression equation. Therefore, the general equation of the model can be written as:

#### $Y = \alpha + \varepsilon \beta_1 X_1 + \varepsilon \beta_2 X_2 + \varepsilon \beta_3 X_3 \dots + \epsilon$ (1)

Equation 1. presents standard regression equation, where Y is the dependent indicator  $\alpha$ is the intercept,  $\varepsilon$  the elasticity coefficient,  $\beta$  the regression coefficients, X<sub>123</sub> are independent factors affecting on change of the dependent indicator and  $\epsilon$ is presenting an error term. AGMEMOD model software application was realized through the General Algebraic Modeling System (GAMS) computer program (McCarl, 2010). Before the realization of the AGMEMOD model in GAMS (Figure 54), all estimated and calibrated equations, as well as the data entering the model, must be specified in the MS-Excel program in separate sheets.



Figure 54. AGMEMOD-GAMS software

The model has its own interface that contains several MS Excel documents that are interconnected or loaded via the GAMS program. These excel sheets are located above in the dropdown menus under "InputData" and "ModelSources" (Figure 55).



Figure 55. AGMEMOD interface

"InputData" drop-down menu contains MS Excel documents that cover commodity markets historical data, assumptions input data, and policy harmonization data. While, "Model-Sources" drop-down menu contain an MS Excel document with model equations for each country, commodity, and variable within the model itself. One more key feature of the model is under the "ModelSources" drop-down menu which relates to the R program in which econometric behavioral equations are estimated.

Currently AGMEMOD model has data and the corresponding equations for all EU 27 Member States. There are also partners from other European countries (Serbia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Russia, Ukraine, and Kazakhstan) and some other countries outside Europe: Brazil, Ghana, Ethiopia, Kenya, and Rwanda. The Croatian country-level model is a result of the authors' standalone model according to the AGME-MOD Partnership rules. The national commodity market models of the key Croatian crop and livestock markets, are estimated,

calibrated, and then validated based on experts' knowledge and literature afterward. Each country model is based on a database template of annual time series, which depending on the country ranges from as early as 1973 to the latest available. Usually for the oldest EU Member states data ranges from 1973 and for New Member States from the 1990s in the case of Western Balkan Countries data ranges from the year 2000.

Historical data MS-Excel sheet is found in "InputData" dropdown menu within AGMEMOD interface and holds annual data on initial stocks, production, imports, human consumption and animal feed, industrial consumption, exports, ending stocks, and domestic prices for all key agricultural markets in each country model template (Figure 56).

85.0.1											HR-Date;	gmemod_Bi	ase - Excel								🛕 Mari	😐 i	œ –	a x
File Home Inset																								
Patte Cut Patte Format Painter Clipboard 5	Arial B I U - E	- 8 <u>-</u> 24	A A			砂・ 営 Wrap 回 王 臣 Mery Alignment	o Text ge & Center	- \$ -	ber % > % Number	40 Cor For	nditional Form matting * Tab	psta nat as ole -	InColHead rightline	PSEN/ Standaard_	unber 1 U Standa Styles	PSEParcent r ard 10 2 S	ed-cut and pask Randard 2	RED-TVR Standar	d 2 2 v	Insert (	Pelete Format Cells	AutoSum · Fill · Clear · Ed	Sort & Fin Filter - Sel	C sd & ect*
88368 * I ×	√ fx =	F(OR(BB9	7=0,88	116=0,88	897= <sup>***</sup> ,8	B116=***),**,BB97	+88116)																	v
A B 1 Data of variables in AG	C D MEMOD model	E	F	G	HR	AP /	2007	AR 2008	AS 2000	AT 2010	AU 2011	AV 2012	AW 2013	AX 2014	AY 2015	AZ 2016	BA 2017	88	BC 2019	BD 2020	BE BF B(B) BI	BJ E	ак	BL BI -
3 4-Nov-15	eviewnam	varrame	produ	t Activity	countr	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021 "eee "e "e " 2021		2013	2014
85 86 SUPPLY AND USE		1			1																		#1615. #1616.	and a
87 88 Soft wheat are 1,000 ha	de not che WSAHAHI	WEAHA	ws	AHA	HR	175.55	175.05	154.70	179.20	169 *	147*	186	203	156	141	171	118	138	140	143		-	203.43	155.58
89 Soft wheat yiel lonne/ha	de not che WSYNAHI	WSYNA	W5	YHA	HR	4.58	4.64	5.49	5.19	4.00	5.23	5.35	4.09	4.14	5.33	5.66	5.81	5.38	5.53	5.67	1 1 1 1	1	4.89	4.14
90 Soft wheat pro 1,000 tonne	de not che WSSPRHR	WSSPR	WS	SPR	HR	804.60	812.35	849.50	930.80	675*	770	994	994	643	753	967	684	743	772	807			994.15	643.34
91 Soft wheat mp 1,000 tonne 92 Soft wheat even 1,000 tonne	Europial 2 WSSNTHR	WSSMT SARWY	WS	SMT	NR Ke	72.02	64.29	106.52	23.96	30.82	30.25	49.45	117.70	168.21	194.78	212.40	217.04	213.22					75.37	138.46
93 Soft wheat don 1 000 tonne	de not che WSUDCHE	WSUDC	WS	LIDC	HR	704 70	705.07	62.00	771.99	479.23	634.15	410.21	730 10	574.94	611.34	702.79	368/00	409.95					650 23	591.85
94 Soft wheat end 1,000 tonne	WSCCTHR	WSCCT	WS	CCT	5e	430.00	160.00	360.00	220.00	121.00	147.53	163.09	113.35	141.32	139.25	150.00							anara.	and a
95 Soft wheat fee 1,000 tonne	WSUFEHR	WSUFE	WS	UFE	<b>HR</b>	136.83	138.13	129.34	164.30	87.51	103.64	95.12	107.70	99.85	126.08	120.92							#34A	anua (
95 Soft wheat non 1,000 tonne	de not che WSUFOHR	WSUFO	WS	UFO	HR	543.73	542.57	538.09	579.61	374.86	511.26	489.43	597.55	459.05	498.54	557.93							#16A	and C
97 Soft wheat los: 1,000 tonne	WSUDLHR	WSUDL	WS	UDL	ħR	24.14	24.37	25.75	28.08	16.87	19.26	24.78	24.85	16.04	18.72	23.94							and the	and a
95 Soft wheat foo 1,000 tonne	de not cha WSUFDHR	WSUFD	WS	UFD	HR	496.11	492.80	484.11	536.14	333.83	469.52	443.55	\$56.53	418.03	438.45	524.73							2010 A	and the second s
59 Soft wheat see 1,000 tohne	W3193PH	WSUPS	ws	UPS	HR	47.62	49.77	53.97	43.47	41.03	41.74	45.87	41.02	41.02	33.09	33.20						_		
101 Soft wheat fac: 1,000 tonne	de not che WSIEANS	WOULD	ws	UEA		0.00		0.00	0.00	0.00				0.00									-	
102 Soft wheat pro 1,000 tonne	WSUCCHE	WSU00	WS	uop	58	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00					0.00	0.00
103 Soft wheat pro 1,000 tonne	WSLOPHR	WSUDP	ws	UDP	<b>NR</b>	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00							and in	BUA C
104 Soft wheat oth-1,000 tonne	do not che WSXTAHR	NOTA	WS	XTA	HR																		ana a	and a
105 soft wheat net 1,000 tonne 106	de not che WSUXNeR	WSUXW	WS	UDDN	HR	19.90	377.28	-43.68	298.81	294.46	109.54	368.75	313.00	40.43	143.71	253.02	172.62	276.72					#52.5	ENG.
107 Durum wheat a 1,000 ha	do not cha WDAMAHR	WDANA	WD	ANA	<b>FiR</b>	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.10	1.70	2.62	1.11	1.00	1.41	1.53	0.50	0.04	0.45	0.30	1.00			1.00	1.41
108 Durum wheat y tonne/ha	de not cha WDVIKAHI	WDYRA	WD	YHA	HR	4.73	4.95	4.94	4.73	3.55	4.69	5.45	4.44	5.29	6.54	4.95	5.14	4.15	5.00	5.40			4.44	5.29
109 Durum wheat p 1,000 tonne	do not cha WDSPRMR	WDSPR	WD	SPR	HR	4.73	4.95	8.90	5.20	6.32	12.28	6.05	4.79	7.46	10.01	2.49	3.29	1.91	1.50	5.40			4.79	7.45
110 Durum wheat ir 1,000 tonne	Eurostal 2 WDSAITHE	WDSMT	wo	SMT	HR	0.00	0.00	0.00	35.43	36.07	38.56	43.65	44.01	55.62	43.18	55.72	65.22	129.20			1 1 1 1 1		14.53	12.49
111 Durum wheat e 1,000 tonne	Eurostat 2 WDUXTHR	WDUXT	WD	UKT	HR	0.00	0.00	0.00	3.07	1.93	2.62*	7.66	2.73	2.93.	9.19*	18.32	12.74	18.66					0.08	0.45
112 Coron wheat a 1,000 tone	ee not cha would have	MODEL	WO	000	C.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	40.40	40.00	42.04	40.07	59,15	44.00	39.09	50.77	112.45				-	PUA.	ENA.
114 Durum scheel 5 1 000 toone	WOLFFHR	MULT	wo	LIFE	50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.21	0.59	0.65							and a local division of the	
115 Durum wheat n 1,000 tonne	de not che WDUFOHR	WDUFO	WD	UFO	HR			8.72	37.46	40.33	48.58	41.92	45.97	58.76	43.15	39.18							ana a	and a
116 Durum wheat it 1,000 tonne	check extr WDsDLHR	WDUDL	wo	UDL	HR	0.00	0.00	0.18	0.10	0.13	0.25	0.12	0.10	0.19	0.25	0.00							atura *	PUA
117 Durum wheat fi 1,000 tonne	WOUFDHR	WDUFD	WD	UFD	HR	0.00	0.00	0.00	37.25	40.33	48.57	27.49	38.75	52.83	38.91	33.26							atus.	#114 C
118 Durum wheat a 1,000 tonne	WOUFSHR	WDUFS	WD	UFS	HR	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.40	0.39	0.51	0.55	0.18						_	and the	B10
119		S			50	£0.45	40.00		the set	-														
120 Balley area har 1,000 ha	60 not cha BAARARA	BAARA	BA	ANA	HR	59.16	59.00	65.50	58.60	53	48			45		50	100	61	6 43	50				
122 Barley producti 1 000 tonne	de not cha BASPRHR	BASER	RA	SPR	10	215.26	225.27	279.10	243.60	172	194	236	201	176	193	263	260	228	263	296			254 C	2010
123 Barley imports 1,000 tonne	Eurostat 2 BASMTHR	BASMT	BA	SMT	<b>NR</b>	70.84	58.61	72.08	57.14	38.06	70.72	45.19	59.07	49.99	64.81	47.66	43.14	39.47					59.07	49.99
124 Barley exports 1,000 tonne	Eurostat 2 BALOCTHR	BAUXT	BA	UXT	<b>NR</b>	30.64	34.39	30.15	27.23	30.69	35.64	54.40	39.55	44.29	72.49	80.04	123.94	75.72"					39.55	44.29
125 Barley domestic 1,000 tonne	de not cha BAUDCHR	BAUDC	BA	UDC	HR	247.25	249.49	321.03	273.51	180.53	102.14	243.36	233.27	167.73	192.68	199.84	237.05	191.27				· ·	#NIA	#1014
126 Barley ending s 1,000 tonne	BACCTHR	BACCT	8A.	CCT	HR	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	45.90	31,02	18.62	32.18	27.28	58.22							#56A	and a local division of the local division o
127 Barley feed use 1,000 tonne	BAUFEHR	TAUFE	BA	UPE	NR	164.58	174.37	234.60	201.22	129.09	153.32	141.34	146.35	142.57	147.34	136.78						_		
120 paney non-fee: 1,000 tonne 120 Barling houses 1,000 tonne	ee not cha BAUFOHR	BACTO	CA.	010	Ten I	76.37	runz	00.05	67.41	45.47	23.00	\$4.90	0.00	20.77	34.50	56.40								
nau warwy wases 1,000 tonne	BALOCAR	and the	and .	vet	1.6	4.31		+ 50	4.67	3.17	5.82	7.00	0.04	4.39	4.04	6.50						_	_	
A la laurat	database ch	OF SACOL O	Acate	inere a	a data	I derived croops	decland	Support	databara	insisses ch	arking di	second firms	0000	100 L	INTE ERAL	(A)								

Figure 56. AGMEMOD historical data input sheet

Where possible, the AGME-MOD Partnership uses Eurostat sources such as the Agricultural Information System and New-Cronos to populate the AG-MEMOD database (Levert and Chantreuil, 2006).

As Eurostat no longer provides supply and use balances, data

compilation has become more complicated, time-consuming. National teams responsible for country models and data compilation are required to turn to diverse national data sources. The second MS-Excel sheet under the "InputData" dropdown menu holds a set of data related to the exogenous assumptions that lie beyond the combined model (Figure 57). This set of data contains annual data about world market prices, population estimates mid-year, real Gross Domestic Product, GDP deflator, real GDP per capita, average annual exchange rate HRK / EUR, EU policy instruments, dummies, and trends.



Figure 57. AGMEMOD assumptions input datasheet

For assumptions on the development of macroeconomic conditions, the AGMEMOD uses the same sources as the EU Agricultural Outlook, which itself relies on a combination of the European Commission's shortterm outlook, forecasts from IHS Markit, and other sources including the International Monetary Fund, the World Bank and the OECD. Their respective major assumptions include data on economic growth, inflation, and exchange rates (EC, 2016). The EU Agricultural Outlook covers the EU in its current composition (EU-27), following Brexit, which took place in 2020. It presents the medium-term outlook for the EU agricultural markets, income, and environment up to 2030, based on a set of coherent macroeconomic assumptions deemed most plausible at the time of the analysis. Country-specific policy instruments are contained in the policy harmonization sheet also to be found under the "InputData" drop-down menu in the AGME-MOD interface (Figure 58).

85.0.1														PolicyHa	mon_Basel	ine - Excel											🔥 Marko	. 😣	æ -	- 0	×
File Home Ins																															
Paste Cipboard	Arial B J	v ¥v∣⊞ Fort	11 - K - 22 -	A - 5	-	参。 王 王 Alige	왕 Wa E E Me	ap Text rige & Cerr	ter • 5	Numb \$ ~	er % >   Number	• *8 43 5	Conditis Formatti	onal Form ing - Tab	at as 20 S	n) Duizend 6 - Akzen	(min) . 20%-	Duize Akzen Stj	20 % - A 20 % - A	kzen kzen	20 % - Akz 20 % - Akz	en 20 en 20	1% - Akze 1% - Akze	20 ×	inset	Delete Form Cells	at 🖉	NutoSum + Fill+ Clear+ Edit	Z Sort & F Filter * S ting	P ind & elect *	_
AT87 * :		fx 2.00	1																												~
A Rolley Harmonizat	ion instrum	8	C tional cost	D	E	P No		TAL	AR	AS	AT	AU	AV.	AW	AX	AY	A2	BA	88	BC	80	88	Bř	80	BH	в	BJ	BK	81.	BM	85 _
2	ion matron	ience (ne		renne) int		00.10		,																							
3 Scenario name		Saseline 1		HR																											
7 Vph: Total Budgetary E	rivelopes	-		MNEMO	MC				2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	202	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	
8 payments	for direct	Hod EUR	000000	BOEN/H	R BOEW	80	ØW						93250.00	113900.00	183735.00	202965.00	241125.00	279085.00	317645.00	372366.07	419311.83	465457.53		465457.51		465457.53		495457.59	•••••	465457.53	3
3 Flexbility between Pillarz -	from DP to FID, 5														0	0	0	0				0	0		0	0	0	0	0	a	5
10 Flexbility between Pillars -	ton RD to DP.2														100500.00	5	30000	2220000	5 E	206060.00	5	5	75	202000.00	5	15	5	383900 00	7	22200.00	5
E COUPLED PAYMENTS	incoro Annos									-						4.220.00												302000100			
13 66 to 71 of regulation (EC	) No 1782/200	article 68 c	f (EC) No 73	2009; article	52 of (EC)	No 1397/	2013)																								
14 (VC5)	upitto sopport																														
15 Beet 16 Sheep and goats		thed EUR													8470 2164	9350 2389	2838	12873	0 14034 3 3738	14009	14089	14089 3599	14009 3599	1408 3595	14009	14009	14089 3599	14009 3599	14009 3599	14009 3599	5
17 Mik 18 Cereals		thed EUR													0610	9513	11305	13097	14009	14000	14335	14005	14005	54335	14335	14005	14335	14335	14005	14005	÷
10 Grain legumes		thed EUR																													
21 Roe		that EUR													2001	-0-1	4092	0004	. 6325	0000	0030	0000	6050	0/3		0000	0131	0070	0000	0000	
22 Diseeds		Hod EUR																-		204.0	2041	7044			-		2041	2041		7041	
24 Dive of		Hod EUR																2000		200			2001			2001					
25 Staroh potace		thad EUR																-													
Diver VCS (Bar, herep, hop 21 allocome)	is, ruzs, seeds,	766 LUM													2/14			-		-			40.0	•						•	
25 CAP before 2015																															
30 Area payments for atable of	rope	Hod EUR																													
31 Durim wheat supplementar 99	is payment	shed EUR						- 8																							
33 Suckler cov premium		thed EUR											5608	10718																	
34 Additional suckler cov pret	nium	Hod EUR																													
38 Special beet premium 36 Stauchter reamium, achiter		thad EUR						_																							
37 Slaughterpremium, calves		thed EUR																													
38 Sheep and goat premium		thed EUR											1720	3251																	
39 Sheep and goar supplement	ntary premium	thed EUR						_																							
Faults and segetables (ofte	r fhan annual							_																							
41 cropsi 42 Arista 55 73/2009 mile		dual D ID						_																							
43 Add for area under hops		thad EUR						_																							
44 T3I2003, all sectors	sile 68,	thed EUR																													
Article 63, 1782/2003; Artic	sle 68, 73/2008.			1			1		1	1.00			1.10									1			1						
*n Layou	t   KtadM	e   EV	HK NL	38	UK D	E   FI	GR	IE   IT	ES	PT	UK	AT   SE	I IT	EE   D	6   CZ	HU F	r s l	SK R	0   MK	HR	NU   UA	KZ	тк   с	N RW	88	U = (+)	: •	n m			

Figure 58. Policy harmonization datasheet

Policy harmonized approach assumes the inclusion of current 2015-2020 CAP measures and instruments, which relate to regional and voluntary coupled supports (Salputra et al., 2011). Regional, coupled payments as well as state aids are recalculated and included as a policy price addon to producer prices for each observed agricultural products market, in order to form a reaction price that affects the level of production, sown area, average slaughter weight, and numerous other variables in the Croatian national AGMEMOD model (Figure 59).



Figure 59. Policy harmonized approach in the AGMEMOD model

Finally, the last sheet found in the "ModelSources" dropdown menu is containing sets of econometrically estimated equations. Some variables in the model are estimated and some are derived from a historical datasheet. Estimated variables come from the R application program which is also an integral part of the AGME-MOD model and also it is found under the "ModelSources" drop-down menu.

B 5 + c <sup>2</sup> + ∓								HR_ModelEquations_Baseline - Excel	Δ.	Marko 🛞 🖽 – 🗗
File Home Insert Page Layout I										
Paste & Cot Paste & Format Painter Clubaard 5 Fort	8 • A	· = =		tite and the second	Wrap Teo Merge &	t Center	- \$ -	r	insert Delete Format	∑ AutoSum * A ↓ Fill * Soft & Find & Clear * Filter * Select * Fotime
146 * ! × ✓ fe										
A	В	C	D	E	F	G	н	- I	J	ĸ
2 SUPPLY AND USE						1				
3		-				÷.				
Soft wheat area harvested	1,000 ha	WSAHAHR	WSAHA	WS	AHA	HR	EQ_HFX	WSAHAHR = GRAHA * ASH		
Soft wheat vield	tenneha	WSYHAHR	WSYHA	WS	YHA	HR	EQ_HFX	WSTW/R53_24333192163143+0.0416332171029761(WSFTWR4-1)GDPDR6-		
3 Soft wheat production	1.000 tonne	WSSPRHR	WSSPR	WS	SPR	HR	EQ_HEX	WSSPRIR = AHA * YHA		
Soft wheat imports	1.000 tonne	WSSMTHR	WSSMT	WS	SMT	HR	EQ HFX	WSSMTHR = 130.9976406 + 0.242588104*WSPFNHR - 86.30443908*WSSSRHR		6
Soft wheat exports	1.000 tonne	WSUXTHR	WSURT	WS	UNT	HR	IDEN	SPR + CCT(-1) + SMT - UDC - CCT		
Soft wheat domestic use	1.000 tonne	WSUDCHR	WSUDC	WS	UDC	HR	EQ HEX	WSUDCHR = UFO + UFE + UDL		
Salt wheat ending stocks	1.000 tonne	WSCCTHR	WSCCT	WS	CCT	HR	EX			
Salt wheat feed use	1.000 tonne	WSUFEHR	WSUFE	WS	UFE	HR	EQ HEX	WSUFEHR = 155.9392398 - 3.167411181"WSPFNHR/GDPDHR + 2.997063198"BAPFNHR/GDPDHR		
Soft wheat non-feed use	1.000 torne	WSUFOHR	WSUFO	WS	UFO	HR	IDEN	UFD + UFS + UOT		
Soft wheat losses	1.000 tonne	WSUDLHR	WSUDL	WS	UDL.	HR	EQ HEX	WSUDLHR = 0.02'WSSPRHR		6
Soft wheat food use	1.000 tonne	WSUFDHR	WSUFD	WS	UFD	HR	IDEN	VPC/POP		
Soft wheat seed use	1.000 tonne	WSUESHR	WSUES	WS	UFS	HR	EQ HEX	WSUFSHR = 0.28"WSAHAHR		
Soft wheat industrial and processing uses	1.000 torne	WSUOTHR	WSUOT	WS	UOT	HR	FX			
Soft wheat factory use	1.000 tonne	WSUFAHR	WSUFA	WS	UFA	HR	IDEN	XFA + UOD		
Salt what processing in his athread	1.000 toone	WSUCCHR	WSUOD	WS	1100	<b>T</b> HD	FX			
Soft wheat processing use	1.000 tonne	WSUDPHR	WSUDP	WS	UDP	HR	FX			
Soft wheat other factory use	1.000 torne	WSIEAHR	WSYEA	WS	XFA	THR.	FX			
		,								
P										
Durum wheat area harvested	1.000 ha	WDAHAHR	WDAHA	WD	AHA	<b>FIR</b>	EQ HEX	WDAHAHR = GRAHA * ASH		
Durum wheat vield	temetra	WDYHAHR	WDYHA	WD	YHA	THR	EX			
Durum wheat moduction	1.000 toone	WOSPRHR	WOSPR	WD	SPR	5 IR	FX			
Durum wheat imports	1.000 tonne	WDSMTHR	WDSMT	WD	SMT	HR				
Durum wheat exports	1.000 tonne	WOUXTHR	WDURT	WD	UNT	HR				
Durum wheat domestic use	1.000 tonne	WDUDCHR	WDUDC	WD	UDC	HR	FX			
Durum wheat ending stocks	1.000 toone	WOCCTHR	WDCCT	WD	CCT	14R				
Durum wheat feed use	1.000 tonne	WOUFEHR	WOUFE	WD	UFE	HR				
Durum wheat non-feed use	1.000 tonne	WDUFOHR	WDUFO	WD	UFO	HR				
Durum wheat losses	1.000 tonne	WOUDLHR	WOUDL	WD	UDL	HR				
Durum wheat food use	1.000 tonne	WOUFDHR	WOUFD	WD	UFD	HR				
Durum wheat seed use	1.000 tonne	WOUFSHR	WDUFS	WD	UFS	HR				
1										
Barley area harvested	1.000 ha	BAAHAHR	ВААНА	BA	AHA	THR	EQ HEX	BAAHAHR = GRAHA * ASH		
Radey yield	tometra	BAYHAHR	BAYHA	BA	YHA	HR	EQ HEX	BAYHAHR=2.06692720536636+0.0853854303405571*TREND90		6
Barley production	1.000 tonne	BASPRHR	BASPR	BA	SPR	HR	EQ HEX	BASPRHR = AHA * YHA		
Barlay imports	1.000 torne	BASMTHD	BASMT	BA	SMT	5-ID	IDEN	SPR CCT(1) + UC + UC + CCT		

Figure 60. AGMEMOD equation sheet

Equation type (EQ) means that the variable has been estimated or calibrated, identity type (IDEN) indicates that the variable is defined as a derived variable of other variables. Fixed variable type (FX) - indicates that the variable was determined by its last observation in the historical data and is therefore treated as an exogenous variable in the model. The variables included in the regression model are usually numerical variables. In some cases, in addition to numerical variables, qualitative variables are included in the model as regressors in order to describe the impact of qualitative information, and thus expand the scope of regression analysis. Qualitative variables are included in the model using dummy variables. A regression model in which the dependent variable is numerical, and which contains one or more dummy variables as independent variables in addition to the numerical ones, is analyzed in the same way as the standard regression model. Model is generating results in MS-Excel tables, and to generate results in such manner user has to go to "ModelSources" drop-down menu of model interface and find "AGMEMOD Gams Model and Analyzing Tool for" then click on "TI GDX2Excel Tool" then the model will generate tables shown in Figure 61.

The second second	-				0.144												A 144	•• 🙂 🛛	
A, Cat Ris Capy +	ena = +]1 8 2 8 +  ⊡ - Nat			E trup	Set.	- S -	N + N Л Nation	Canalitan Formating	- 344 -	Procent 1 Standard 5	Present 3 Normal	Blandard 2 Bod	2 Standard Good	13 Stam	denti A			Aptology + Fill - Chear Edite	Arr P Intern Frank Nov - Soliet -
+1 E X	× 5 4.346	7150520896																	
c 0		F	1.0	3 H	1110	16	AL III	-014	AB	AD	AP .	10	AB	15	AT	ALL	84	00	AC
Baselin	e	HR																	
	1. Second				C	2017	2010	3019	2020	2021	2022	3633	2024	2025	3636	2027	2020	3636	2020
	BAuge	R. Ball-sufficiency rate		Upt	HR	25%	37%	31%	215	31%	57%	22%	12%	379	37%	35%	37%	22%	347
Malar	COAH	HR Ama (1880 kaj	CÚ	AHA.	HR	347.1	236.5	239.3	268.7	263.3	267.8	269.2	263.0	262.8	262.5	263.6	261.6	262.3	262.9
	00119	AB Yeld (Ma)	00	YHA	†R	8.3	3.1	2.7	8.3	3.6	5.5	10.3	18.4	96.5	10.6	<b>HET</b>	11.0	10.8	18.0
	00681	HE Production (1000 t)	50	971	HR	1,958.6	2,147.3	2,317.9	7.352.1	2,438.0	2.528.8	2.895.8	2,745.8	2,757.3	2.797.8	2.824.7	2,842.1	2.845.7	2,844,8
	COUDE	Her Elementic Line (1088-1)	ED.	upe	HIC	1,2211.9	1,001.2	1,600.2	1,000.0	1,447.1	1,428.3	1.001 h	1,06.9	1,200.3	1,000.0	1,00.1	1,204.1	1,399.2	1,000.0
	COURT	764 Post see (18081)	00	UPD	1R	48.4	43.5	43.6	43.0	43.1	43.5	43.4	43.5	43.2	40.1	43.0	43.8	42.5	42.0
	000.00	HT Peet me (1900 t)	00	UPE	H	1,127.1	1448.5	1,416.7	1,397.4	1,358.1	1.529.3	1,015.8	1,800.8	1,000.5	1,295,1	1,3014	1,002.4	LINEA	1,318.0
	00000	Here are treed on the		urs.	HIC	100		1.1	10.0	180		1.0	1.9		1.0	100		1.0	100
	COUDE	794 Lasses (1980-1)	00	00.	TR	36.9	26.5	30.9	36.9	38.9	26.2	30.5	36.9	26.2	30.5	36.9	26.2	30.5	38.9
	0000	The service service in the	.00 00	0.0	10	2.9	15	0.7	2.9	1.9	1.9	20.7	3.9	1.9	0.0	3.9	1.9	0.8	3.9
	0000	File Reports (1995.0		LOT		433.0	00.0	80.7	83.7	1.045.0		1 714 1	1 415 4		1.011.0	1 400 0			1 112.0
	0000	HE Risch charges (1990-0)	50	OCT	100	108.0	128.8	125.0	175.0	125.0	125.0	120.0	125.0	125.0	100.0	125.0	128.8	104.0	115.0
	0068	49 Market price # Clifton	eei CO	REN	HR	100.2	101.3	89.6	98.2	108.9	1017	162.8	100.7	103.1	10.0	100.2	103.4	162.5	100.0
	ODues	R Sall-sufficiency rate	03	Last	HR	11075	SUIP	10925	10545	1997N	10076	10925	11015	1107%	11025	1100%	111.7%	11505	1110
Reposeds	RSAN	ind Old Land	25	Atta	HR	48.0	51.8	15.6	53.T	53.2	52.8	52.2	51.7	51.9	51.5	51.9	51.9	52.8	52.1
	15/14	Inf. Table Black	15	7148	100	28	2.8	3.1	2.0	3.1	2.3	32	3.2	12	32	3.3	2.3	3.3	13
	88376	HR Predection (1000 m	89	999	HR	125.9	105.2	169.7	161.8	162.2	154.5	165.4	165.0	166.3	169.1	168.1	170.0	170.8	171.7
	8510	HR Derestic use HORE to	RS	UDC	HR	107.1	117.1	125.1	128.5	129.6	126.7	121.4	131.6	132.6	13.7	134.6	125.3	105.1	136.8
	Rhet	A Post are Citor i	15	UP	100	108.4	196.2	134.2	THE T	125.8	129.9	180.8	138.8	131.8	122.8	133.8	134.5	195.2	138.0
	RAUFE	HR Feed ast (1800 t)	85	UFE	HR	8.2	6.3	0.3	8.0	8.2	8.3	0.3	8.2	6.3	0.3	8.2	6.3	0.8	8.2
	85.81	HR Seed use (1909 t)	RS	UPS	HR.	8.5	8.5	0.6	8.5	8.5	8.5	0.5	8.5	8.5	0.5	8.5	8.5	0.5	85
	119,03	HR Lesses (1800 t)	100	- 400.	100														
	Rauci	HR Excessing use (1980	on as	UOL	HR	106.4	116.3	114.3	127.T	128.9	125.5	180.6	128.9	121.8	122.0	122.9	134.5	185.3	116.0

Figure 61. AGMEMOD Excel results table

Results are generated in separate documents which relate to crop markets results (soft and durum wheat, corn, barley, rapeseed, sunflower, and soybeans), livestock market results (cattle, pigs, poultry, sheep, and goats with associated markets for meat, dairy cows, milk and dairy products).

The results are presented in the form of production-consumption balance sheets and con-

tain simulated data results on harvested areas, animal slaughters, slaughter weights, yields, production, domestic use (food, feed, and processing use), imports, exports, stock change, market prices, and self-sufficiency rates by 2030.

In addition to the tabular display, the model is capable of generating graphical results for the same listed simulated results (Figure 62).



Figure 62. AGMEMOD Excel results graphs

Also, it is possible to generate results in GAMS for each individual variable for each country in the AGMEMOD model (Figure 63). To produce results in GAMS user has to go to the "Results" drop-down menu and find "OutPut Tables for all Scenarios (GDX/Gamside)".

and a second sec			S.,		Daty Colores 11																		10	24				
en Judovit		6250	bet		Diseted																							
of it in the setu	1.4		2015	2996	1967	2000	2009	2210	2211	212 2	212	114	215 2	2016	1917 3	216	219 2	230 2	101	1922	923 3	2014	1925	1936	2017	2522	2029	2200
(e+i,ato (anti)		AT	10.52	9.24	9.83	11.06	10.59	9.72	153	18.7	2.4	10.79	0.66	11.56	9.85	9.82	10.28	10.28	183	10.55	10.94	10.56	10.37	10.58	18.4	10.41	10.42	10.40
	15	88	11.67	10.17	11.88	11.89	12.08	10.47	11.82	10.01	11.29	12.27	11.80	9.22	11.48	31	11.85	12.22	12.29	12.13	12.22	12.28	12.84	12.4	17.00	12.83	12.57	12.81
	1100	85	5.21	4.53	1.46	4.16	+21	6.21	5.51	3.88	6.29	7.69	5,41	5,40	5.83	5.86	6.18	6.24	6.5	6.56	6.82	6.86	7,54	7.1	7.45	7.81	7,27	7.81
		<u>C6</u>	201	2.84	1.80	2.14	2,74	2.54	2.54	2.74	2/14	2.54	2,54	2,54	2.54	2.54	2.54	2/4	2/4	2.54	2,54	2,14	2.54	2.54	2.54	2.54	2/4	2.54
unetar		52	1.37	6.75	6.79	T.M	3.0	8.7	8.79	1.78	8.87	8.41	3.34	8.79	6.81	7.84	1.58	1.13	7.21	7.28	7.3	7.84	7.88	7.41	1.41	7.81	T.58	7.8
		06	9.21	0.83	9.45	9.81	9.75	9.53	10.65	10.46	0.84	10.88	0.72	28.9	10.53	9.94	10.23	10.28	10.26	10.40	183	10.57	10.61	10.66	10.75	10.81	10,27	10.80
marie (5)		06.						421	5.22	5.81	5,91	7.22	5.89	7.86	6.21	7.41	7.46	7.7	7.81	0.52	9.21	15	9.61	9.86	9.83	9.16	9.25	8.5
mentre		EA	2.81	2.84	1.07	2,94	2.2	2.41	2.91	2.78	2.76	2.76	2.78	2.76	2.78	2.78	2.78	2.78	2.76	2.76	2.78	278	2.78	2.78	2.76	2.78	2.76	2.78
00.399		81	8.84	0.74	12	16	10.26	10.84	11.27	10.82	11.00	11.81	11.00	11.88	10.81	11.00	11.8	11.44	11.76	11,88	11.01	11.87	11.M	12.1	12.77	12.28	12,28	12.84
		51	2.91	2.64	1.87	2.54	21	2,46	2.85	276	2.76	2.26	2.76	2.28	2.74	2.78	174	278	2.76	2.24	2.76	2.N	2.78	1.25	124	2.76	2.76	2.20
		PR	625	6.58	9.45	9,11	931	- 640	9.87	9.85	0.17	10.00	6.38	0.18	10.88	9.00	9.27	3.3	2.53	9.55	9.37	3.4	9.41	9.44	9.46	9.48	- 11	9.51
		CEH	8,21	8.85	9.01	9.81	6.78	9.23	10.82	10.88	- 2.81	10.48	8.72	9.76	9.78	8.78	8.78	8.78	19,74	9.56	0,18	9.78	9.78	8.78	8.78	8.78	3,78	9.58
		GR	0.86	8.2	90.10	11.1	9.87	11.24	11.81	10.83	11.72	11.42	10.54	10.26	9.81	10.86	10.86	10.81	10.81	10.85	10.86	10.86	10.87	10.86	10.86	10.88	10.86	10.86
		101	6.82	6.53	4,54	7.87	7.38	637	5.88	4.34	8.5	8.1	6.0	8.32	631	9.12	9.71	5.3	9.61	8.8	10.28	30,44	15.49	10.62	10.72	10.78	10.81	10.83
		HU	7.34	6.83	3.73	1.47	6.28	0.47	6.3	4	3.44	1.83	3.75	3.41	6.01	7.58	1.88	8.28	0.44	0.33	0.27	6.84	8.7	6.78	0.81	0.81	7	7.87
		11	9,26	0.73	9.21	9,81	1.6	9.28	1.1	0.00	8.3	10.63	9,73	10.25	8.1	10.24	10.44	10.58	10.82	90.72	10.81	12.5	91	11.24	11.28	11.28	11.27	11.46
		42	1.65	1,72	1.81	1.55	1.29	171	1.58	1.74	1.65	1.00	1.82	1.82	1.62	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.81	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82
		17	3.59	3.0	4.81	4.21	4.85	1.85	7.88	8.73	7.4	0.23	4.81	-0.04	8.74	3.82	5.62	5.82	5.82	3.42	3.62	3.82	8.82	3.62	5.42	5.62	3.82	3.62
		MK.	4.45	4.65	2.84	2.16	2.86	2.34		+.25	4,11	4.25	4.87	+37	4,87	4.37	4.85	4.29	4.1	4.52	4.54	4,0	42	4,34	+.27	+21	4,25	4.26
		N	12.19	12.57	14.04	7.41	0.47	TM	881	6.83	177	13.50	10.82	10.66	15.44	12.25	11.21	10.87	- 11	11.02	11.28	11.48	11 42	11.81	31.01	12.14	12.3	12.45
		R	3.73	4.78	6.27	3.81	6.21	3.87	1.18	T.85	0.28	0.34	4.71	T.52	1.18	0.86	6.21	6.32	0.33	6.57	8.6	0.82	0.85	0.87	0.89	0.71	0.73	0.75
		#T	4.88	5.29	5.84	6,23	6.59	6,81	81	- 8.1	9,31	0.20	0.45	9,82	9,24	9.34	7.78	7.86	9,54	9.22	9.51	9.85	9.87	9.85	921	9,41	9,54	9,77
		#D			1,73	- 544	1,34	2.54	2.51	2.85	5.19	5.31	5.44	5.57	3.71	5.85		6.16	5.52	6.49	6.88	6.83	TA	7,24	745	7.66	7.69	- 63
		REI	1.0	1.24	1.83	\$21	2.41	441	2.52	2.78	1.01	4.77	3.00	4.18	3.81	2.82	3.87	4.81	4.83	1.8	4.74	4.18	\$22	4.28	41	1.11	1.78	4.42
		Rt	2.73	2,41	2.52	2.89	2.8	2.18	4.00	2.84	4.75	4,21	4.76	5.86	2.86	2.83		4,07	4,54	4,21	4.29	4.26	4.45	45	4.57	4.54	4.21	478
		8					6.38	5.6	TAL	6.86	5.80	1.47	431	637	6.75	6.87	0.37	637	631	6.57	6.87	6.87	637	6.87	637	6.57	6.81	631
		31	8.29	0.81	7.84	1.53	7.84	8.54	8.88	T.28	3.41	9.13	2.87	9.81	1.31	8.25	9.23	8.74	9.22	8.4	0.27	9.0	0.32	9.38	9.45	8.71	9.78	9.84
		<u>8</u> K	7.84	5,47	3.86	0.78	7.81	5.51	7.9	5.51	540	0.24	+21	925	5.74	7.55	6.21	6.75	- 64	6.34	6.89	-6.83	6.84	7.81	7.87	1.11	7.76	. 72
		74	2.81	2.64	1.87	2,54	2,74	2.14	2.94	2.54	2,14	2,54	2.54	2.54	2.54	2.94	2.54	2.94	2,54	2,54	2.54	2.54	2.54	2.54	2,54	2.54	2,54	2.94
		71	7	7.03	6.83	7.82	\$31	7.51	187	0.84	6.4	6.36	6.4	6.51	6.54	671	6.76	6.91	TAT	7.25	7,58	7.89	771	TAL	TIM	6.81	6.17	6.28
		LMA	1.0	3.74	2.8	1.89	3.22	4.81	8.44	4.79	8.4	6.78	3.72	7.08	1.28	7.27	1.53	7.84	1.81	1	8.24	1.0	8.71	1.89	8.2	9.41	8.87	
		IM.CE	4,47	2.96	2.78	5.84	5.26	+71	7.54	4.43	6.57	5.21	5.85	7.26	- 7.1	751	177	7.89	0.30	9.25	9.55	11	9.87	9,21	9.56	9.83	10.85	10.25
		44.0	4.82	5.94	6.24	7.87	\$71	0.00	T 89	17	0.94	0.86	9.21	9.58	9.99	281	10.87	13.1	10.54	10.79	11,87	11.30	13.4	11.87	12,74	12.41	12.64	12.14
		14,54	3,85	3.81	2.81	8.21	1.21	2.34	1.01	3.74	1.0	6.86	4.81	4.62	6.26	1.41		4.46	1.27	0.34	4.87	4.79	1.81	3.21	8.78	8.8	3,22	3,21
		LM_MK	5.75	5.84	5.93	4.81	5.74	4.6	7	6.26	721	7.86	6.66	7.81	7.57	7.87	0.36	0.23	2.41	9.61	9.84	9.87	9.28	9.51	9,74	9.86	10,18	10.41
unply texe		UA.50	5.24	2.51	1.75	3.41	3.28	4.11	4.77	2.59	4,52	3.63	33	4.52	17.4	4.78	4.24	4/1	4,54	4,17	4.21	4.33	4,44	4.51	+#1	4.85	4.71	1.34
mathe solutions		LM, WI	E 44	4.29	4.81	3.24	8.24	1.0		8.22	. 7	7.3	3.86	7.8	8.18	3.0	8.77	2.89	9,23	0.54	0.06	10.18	18.3	10.83	11.54	11.0	11.77	11.29
and a highly		1.6	9,41	7.86	5.85	7.57	6.81	7.23	23	6.13	6.10	9.59	6.41	7.4	7.83	7.41	7.41	7.55	7.58	7.65	7.88	7.74	7.26	7.84	7.8	7.85	9.81	9.34
		00	13	1.84	1.8	1.47	1.58	1.59	1.59	1.39	1.41	1.8	1.54	1.85	1.41	1.41	1.88	1.72	1.75	1.28	1.82	1.84	1.14	1.84	1.87	2	2.84	2.03

Figure 63. AGMEMOD GAMS results

# 6.1.2 AGMEMOD (PE) model in the practical use of simulating future soft wheat yield and production volumes under the irrigation

This section will show the actual modelling results of the Croatian soft wheat market (harvested area, yield, and production) via the AGMEMOD model by 2030. Two simulations will be made, one without the effect of irrigation and the other with the effect of irrigation on all observed soft wheat is sown. Namely, no country or region irrigates all sown areas, but the intention is to test the application of the model and its capability to simulate the impact of irrigation on soft wheat yields and production. When creating a real simulation, it is possible to place part of the areas that are truly irrigated or planned to be irrigated in the future in the model itself.

Croatian soft wheat market historical balance sheet data ranges from 1995 up to 2018, and they are compiled from the national statistical office and cover data on production, consumption, imports, exports, beginning stocks, and ending stocks in the form of balance sheets (CBS, 2021). The Croatian soft wheat market modelled using an appropriate econometric methodology as described by the general rules of the AGMEMOD modelling approach (Hanrahan, 2001; Erjavec and Donnellan, 2005). The simulation assumes stable market conditions without market distortions with stable climatic and weather conditions (ceteris paribus) and with the continuation of existing agricultural policy measures up to 2030 (baseline) (Jansik et al., 2006).

Next, the general forms of econometric equations in the model used for the simulation of the soft wheat market (harvested area, yield, and production) in Croatia will be presented. Future simulated total wheat production is determined by simulation of future soft wheat sown areas and yields. Therefore, the equation for the total harvested area of cereals, oilseeds, and root crops can be written as:

 $ah_{i,l} = f(p_{i,l-1}^{j}, ah_{l,l-1}, V) \quad j = 1,...,n; \quad i,l = 1,...,3; \quad i \neq l$  (3)

Where: $ah_{i,t}$ = harvested area in year $t$ of	vested area of culture (e.g. certain policy instruments
$p_{j,i-1}^{j}$ = the actual price of culture	
<i>j</i> belonging to the group of crops <i>i</i> in year <i>t</i> -1	longs to the group of cultures
V = vector of exogenous vari- ables that may affect the har-	and is determined by the follow- ing equation:
$sh_{i,t}^{k} = f(p_{i,t-1}^{j}, sh_{i,t-1}^{k})$	<i>j,k</i> =1,, <i>n</i> (4)

The share of the harvested area of an individual crop is calculated according to principle 1 - part of the area of all other (*n*-1) crops, which means that the harvested area of the observed

crop = Total harvested area  $\times$  share of n<sup>th</sup> crop.

The yield of culture k which is in the group of cultures i can be expressed as:

$$r_{i,t}^{k} = f(p_{i,t-1}^{j}, r_{i,t-1}^{k}, V) \quad j,k=1,...,n$$
 (5)

Where:

- $r^{k}_{i,t}$  = yield per hectare of crop k which is in the group of crops i  $p^{j}_{i,t-1}$  = the actual price of culture
- *j* belonging to the group of crops *i* in year *t*-1
- r<sup>k</sup><sub>i,t-1</sub> = yield per hectare of crop k which is in the group of crops i in the year t-1
- V = a vector of exogenous variables that may affect the yield per hectare of crop k located in the crop group i.

Based on the previous equations, the production of observed crop culture is determined: crop production = harvested crop area × crop yield. When the general form of econometric behavioral equations is transferred to the AG-MEMOD program via mnemonics to the R program through which equations are econometrically estimated using national annual time series (Figure 64). Using sets of econometrically estimated equations, the model creates projections of endogenous variables from exogenous and endogenous model data. The corresponding econometric equations are estimated using standard econometric techniques and simulation will be the results of the mathematical solutions to this set of equations (Figures 64 and 65).
Agmemod2Gems : From Excel Equation definitions to Gems Code Generator     Current scenario: Baseline     Definitions - MediaTournings - Data     Definitions - MediaTournings - Data	Current detavariant: Base Current Model: MODEL	-	σ	×
Processing Actions Estimate in R				
Egastion to Estimate           WSY1444R-(WSPFMER(1))+(CDPCHR(-1))-HEP04R-TREND00           Equation C-Miniade (new)           M           WSY14MR-(H-100822042+0.010250527503376*(WSPFNHR(-1))-13.1930174480	259°(GDPDHR); 1)+0.03025800388002744*NIPX+R+0.120132380603329*TREND00		7	
Equation Characteristics <u>Country</u> Sheet Line  HR  database  85	Equation Summary   Data Input   Graph   Data Estimated   Generated R Code   R, MainCode			
Choose Variable         Equation Type           wsy-kA-R	<pre>#limition 7</pre>			
Olean EquationLine Estimate Equation by Hand	-0.41478 -0.26047 0.06418 0.18909 0.60689 Coefficients: Estimate Std. Error t value Pr(> t ) Intercept) 14.746110 4.772823 3.060 0.0214 * 1ag WEFNEL 10.01025 0.00126 1.4153 0.2020 * 1ag WEFNEL 10.010259 0.01242 - 2.125 0.0777 TENNOP 0.02429 0.0138128 2.414 0.0522 -			
Put Equation in Equation File	Signi, codes: 0 **** 0.001 *** 0.01 *** 0.05 *.* 0.1 ** 1 Residual standard error: 0.4049 on 6 degrees of freedom (( observation deleted due to missingmes))			
Ourors - Nov Of Latititation	Multiple K-squares: 0.0777, Argustes K-squared: 0.462 F-statist: 3.147 on 4 and 6 DF, p-value: 0.102 f			

Figure 64. Estimation process in R program

The evaluation of the model in terms of testing the significance of regression parameters is performed by T-test, and then performs the significance test of the entire regression by F-test with the coefficient of determination R<sup>2</sup>. Then, the estimated results are evaluated by standard statistical tests for heteroskedasticity (white heteroskedasticity) and autocorrelation.



Figure 65. Estimation process in R program – estimation graph

After the process of estimation, estimated equations are calibrated so that they correspond to standard tests that assess the statistical coherency and quality, as well as their compliance with necessary biological constraints. In order to produce plausible simulation validation of the produced simulation results has to be conducted. This means that commodity market experts and agricultural economists will examine the provisional model baseline simulation results and will provide feedback on the model's projections. Regarding their comments, further calibration steps might be undertaken. By following previously described steps which relate to:

- Data collection
- Assumption's determination
- Setting up econometric behavioral equations
- Estimation of econometric behavioral equations
- Calibration of econometric behavioral equations
- Validation of econometric behavioral equations
- Re-calibration regarding validation if needed

We get a good medium-term simulation that can serve as a decision-making basis, this approach also relates to evidence-based policy making (EBPM) (Cairney, 2016). Simulation results of the Croatian soft wheat market under baseline assumption are modelled producing medium-term projections of soft wheat harvested area, yield and production by 2030. In order to simulate the effects of irrigation on observed variables calibration technique was used. In the first step simulation with the equation shown in Figure xy was used to produce regular baseline results. Irrigation effects are simulated simply by adjusting the regression coefficient of the trend variable in the estimated equation in order to produce results with irrigation effect simulation. Namely, the importance of irrigation in economic terms is most evident in the increase in yields of cultivated crops where it is estimated that irrigation of the area with average annual rainfall can have up to 20% higher yields, while in years with low annual rainfall up to 40% higher yields (Marković et al., 2018; Marković et al., 2017; Marković et al., 2016; Čagalj et al., 2015; Šoštarić et al. 2014). Therefore. we took an arithmetic mean of 30%, and by this percentage, we increased the regression coefficient of the trend in the estimated equation for soft wheat yield in Croatia.

Baseline simulation without irrigation effect indicates that soft wheat yields in Croatia will continue to grow by the end of the simulated period (Figure 66). The introduction and development of new technologies in arable farming production, EU funding sources, Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) direct payments and mechanisms, changes in the landowner structure in favor of larger and more efficient farms should significantly contribute to further convergence of productivity per unit area, where Croatia should be near the old Member States in terms of productivity levels.



Figure 66. AGMEMOD modelling results - soft wheat yield

However, when we increase the trend regression coefficient by 30% in order to simulate irrigation effect on soft wheat yields increase up to 7.6 t/ha compared to 6.3 t/ha by 2030. This means 20.5% increase in soft wheat yields compared to baseline simulation results by the end of the simulated period.

The soft wheat sown areas in Croatia have a declining trend particularly after Croatia's accession to the EU (Figure 67). Relatively low soft wheat average producer prices in Croatia, which are below the levels of average producer prices in the EU are the cause of soft wheat sown area declining trend (Iljkić et al., 2019). Therefore, a part of domestic soft wheat producers has reoriented their production to other crops production whose average producer prices are closer to the EU levels (Kranjac et al., 2020). According to the AGMEMOD model baseline simulation results, it is expected stable amounts of soft wheat sown areas in the future with a slight growth trend until 2030 compared to 2018.



Figure 67. AGMEMOD modelling results - soft wheat harvested area

When we simulate the irrigation effect in the trend variable, we can observe that soft wheat harvested areas slightly increase compared to baseline simulation results. Simulated results show an increase of 1.4% in a harvested area compared to baseline by 2030. This can be explained by fact that higher soft wheat yields provide more incentive to producers so they become more willing to sow soft wheat. Given the expected growth in yields and stable levels of sown areas, soft wheat production is also expected to approximately grow by 25% under the baseline scenario by 2030 compared to 2018 (Figure 68).



Figure 68. AGMEMOD modelling results - soft wheat production

Under the simulated effect of irrigation soft wheat production volumes in Croatia is expected to grow by 22.2% compared to baseline modelling results by 2030, and by respectively 53.1% compared to 2018 production quantity.

In a similar way, this kind of simulation of irrigation impact on other key crop markets can be applied. Simulations of this type can help decision-makers in their decisions to support investment in irrigation infrastructure projects. As such investments are extremely expensive, good impact analysis on production indicators is needed and partial equilibrium models as sophisticated tools can deliver impact assessment analyzes that will simulate such effects.



- AGMEMOD official website (2021): About AGMEMOD model. Available on: https://agmemod.eu/
- Allen R.G., Pereira L.S., Raes D., Smith M. (1998): Crop evapotranspiration: Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. Irrigation and drainage paper No. 56. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization on the United Nations (FAO).
- Brouwer C., Prins K., Kay M., Heibloem M. (1985): Irrigation Water Management: Irrigation Methods. Training manual No.5. FAO, Rome, Italy.
- Čagalj M., Strikić F., Vitanović E., Ivanković M. (2015): Povećanje poljoprivredne proizvodnje u uvjetima navodnjavanja u Imotsko - bekijskom polju. Zbornik radova "50-i Hrvatski i 10-i Međunarodni Simpozij Agronoma" Opatija, Hrvatska, 16-20. 02. 2015, 133-137.
- Cairney P. (2016): The Politics of Evidence-Based Policymaking. London: Palgrave Pivot.
- Chantreuil F., Hanrahan K., van Leeuwen M. (2012): The future of EU agricultural markets by AGMEMOD. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Croatian Bureau of statistics (CBS) (2021): Available on: https://www.dzs.hr/ hrv/system/stat\_databases.htm
- Doorenbos J., Pruit W.O. (1977): Guidelines for predicting crop water requirements. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper No. 24. Rome.
- EC (European Commission) (2016): EU Agricultural Outlook: prospect for the EU agricultural markets and income 2016-2026, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Erjavec E., Donnellan T. (2005): Development of the AG-MEMOD country level agricultural policy analysis tool in the New Members States of EU. Paper presented at the 89th EAAE Seminar. Parma, Italy.
- Fereres E., Soriano M. A. (2007): Deficit irrigation for reducing agricultural use. Journal of Experimental Botany, 58(2): 147-159.
- Food and agricultural organisation of United Nations, FAO (2016): Introducing AquaCrop. Available on: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i6321e.pdf
- Food and agricultural organisation of United Nations, FAO (2017): Book I. Understanding Aquacrop. Available on: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i6051e. pdf
- Food and agricultural organisation of United Nations, FAO (2018): AquaCrop Version 6.0-6.1. FAO crop-water productivity model to simulate yield response to water. Reference manual.
- Food and agricultural organisation of United Nations, FAO (2021): AquaCrop. Available on: http://www.fao.org/aquacrop/overview/limitations/en/
- Hanrahan K.F. (2001): The EU GOLD model 2.1: An Introductory Manual. Dublin: Teagasc, Rural Economy Research Centre.

- Iljkić D., Kranjac D., Zebec V., Varga I., Rastija M., Antunović M., Kovačević V. (2019): Stanje i perspektiva proizvodnje žitarica i uljarica u Republici Hrvatskoj. Glasnik zaštite bilja, 3: 58-67.
- Jansik C., Kettunen L., Lehtonen H., Niemi J. (2006): Agricultural policy analysis with the AGMEMOD model: A new super model takes the stage? Suomen Maataloustieteellisen Seuran Tiedote, 21: 1-7.
- Kranjac D., Zmaić K., Grgić I., Salamon P., Erjavec E. (2020): Accession impact and outlook for Croatian and EU crop and livestock markets. Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research, 18(1): e0103.
- Levert F., Chantreuil F. (2006): Building the AGMEMOD database: use of Eurostat data and common rules for a coherent database (revision 6) notes and guidelines 4, Paris.
- Lu N., Likos J. (2004): Rate of Capillary Rise in Soil. Technical notes. Available on: https://www.pc-progress.com/Images/Personal/NLu/Publications/ NLJ32200403.pdf
- M'Barek R., Britz W., Burrell A., Delincé J. (2012): An integrated modelling platform for agro-economic commodity and policy analysis (iMAP) - a look back and the way forward. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 9–91.
- M'Barek R., Delincé J. (2015): An integrated modelling platform for agro-economic commodity and policy analysis—new developments and policy support 2012–2014. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, 1–64.
- Marković M., Josipović M., Ravlić M., Josipović A., Zebec V. (2016): Deficit irrigation of soybean (Glycine max. (L.) Merr.) based on monitoring of soil moisture, in sub-humid area of Eastern Croatia. Romanian Agricultural Research, 33: 1-8.
- Marković M., Josipović M., Šoštarić J., Jambrović A., Brkić A. (2017): Response of maize (Zea mays L.) grain yield and yield components to irrigation and nitrogen fertilization. Journal of central European agriculture, 18 (1): 55-72.
- Marković M., Šoštarić J., Josipović M., Barač Ž., Brkić A. (2018): Yield and yield components of maize (Zea Mays L.) hybrids as affected by irrigation scheduling and meteorological conditions. Agriculturae conspectus scintificus, 83 (1): 39-44.
- McCarl B.A. (2010): McCarls GAMS user guide, Version 24.1. Available on: https://www.gams.com/latest/docs/userguides/mccarl/mccarlgamsuserguide.pdf
- Raes D. (2009): The ETo calculator, Reference Manual. Version 3.1.
- Raes D., Steduto P., Hsiao T.C., Fereres E. (2009): AquaCrop-The FAO crop model to simulate yield response to water: II. Main algorithms and software description. Agronomy Journal, 101(3): 438-447.

- Raes D., Steduto P., Hsiao T.C., Fereres E. (2018): AquaCrop Version 6.0 6.1. Reference manual. Available on: http://www.fao.org/3/a-br246e.pdf
- Rai R.K., Singh V.P., Upadhyay A. (2017): Planning and Evaluation of Irrigation Projects. Methods and Implementation, 505-523.
- Salamon P., Banse M., Barreiro-Hurlé J., Chaloupka O., Donnellan T., Erjavec E., Fellmann T., Hanrahan K., Hass M., Jongeneel R., Laquai V., van Leeuwen M., Molnár A., Pechrová M., Salputra G., Baltussen W., Efken J., Hélaine S., Jungehülsing J., von Ledebur O., Rac I., Santini F. (2017): Unveiling diversity in agricultural markets projections: from EU to Member States. A medium-term outlook with the AGMEMOD model. JRC Technical Report. 29025 EUR, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Salputra G., Chantreuil F., Hanrahan K., Donnellan T., Leeuwen van M., Erjavec E. (2011): 'Policy harmonized approach for the EU agricultural sector modelling', Agricultural and Food Science, 20: 119-130.
- Salvatici L., Anania G., Arfini F., Conforti P., De Muro P., Londero P. (2001): Recent developments in modelling the CAP: hype or hope? Vo T. Heckelei, H. P. Witzke, & W. Henrichsmeyer, Agricultural Sector Modelling and Policy Information Systems. Proceedins of the 65th European Seminar of EAAE Kiel: Wissenschaftsverlag Vauk Kiel KG, 8-26.
- Soil Science Glossary Terms Committee (2008): Glossary of Soil Science Terms 2008. Madison: SSSA, p. 92.
- Šoštarić J., Begić S., Salkić B., Kovačević V., Marković M. (2014): Variation of winter wheat yields in Croatia and Bosnia and Herzegovina among years with aspect of climatic changes. Turkish Journal of Agricultural and Natural Sciences, special issue (2014), 1: 1364-1368.
- USDA, United States Department of Agriculture (1997): Irrigation guide. Chapter 9, Irrigation Water Management.
- USDA, United States Department of Agriculture (2016): Restrictive layer depth. Available on: https://datagateway.nrcs.usda.gov/
- Walker W.R. (1989): Guidelines for designing and evaluating surface irrigation systems. FAO irrigation and drainage paper 45. Rome, Italy.